From the Department of Microbiology, Tumor and Cell Biology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Hantaviruses – from interferons to development of an *in vitro* model

Malin Stoltz



Stockholm 2011

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet.

© Malin Stoltz, 2011 ISBN 978-91-7457-598-9

Printed by REPROPRINT AB Stockholm 2011 www.reproprint.se Gårdsvägen 4, 169 70 Solna

To my family and friends up north

ABSTRACT

Hantaviruses can cause hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (HFRS) and hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome (HCPS), two severe diseases that often are associated with a deadly outcome as there is no cure. The natural hosts of hantaviruses are rodents and insectivores, which are believed to harbor the virus asymptomatically. The pathogenesis in humans is unclear, but increased vascular leakage and affected endothelial cells, possibly due to rigorous and unhampered immune responses, are hallmarks of HFRS and HCPS. Interferons (IFNs) are part of the innate immunity and mediate production of antiviral molecules but can also modulate the adaptive immune responses against infections. In an attempt to increase the knowledge about pathogenesis in humans, we aimed to understand the interactions between hantaviruses and the IFN-response and provide tools to investigate the potential differences in innate immune regulation between human cells and cells from a natural hantavirus host.

Our results in paper I indicate that hantaviruses can interfere with induction of innate immune responses in patients and inhibit the antiviral effect of all types of IFNs. We observed that serum levels of IFN- α and - β were unaltered in Puumala virus (PUUV)-infected patients while the level of the more recently discovered IFN- λ was decreased during the acute phase of the disease. IFN- λ was shown to inhibit replication of the prototype hantavirus Hantaan (HTNV) but to a lesser extent than IFN- α , - β or - γ . The function of STAT1, a protein that is crucial for IFN signalling, was inhibited in HTNV infected cells.

In paper II, we observed that a hantavirus infection can induce IFN- λ specifically, without inducing IFN- α or - β . This has never been described before for any virus, and has taught us more about the complexity of IFN induction.

In paper III, we described both mutations and substantial phenotypical differences in two PUUV isolates compared to each other and to their parental strain. These results imply that we might study spontaneous mutations rather than true differences between hantaviruses when we use cell culture propagated viruses.

Due to lack of host-specific tools, not much is known about the responses to infection in natural hantavirus hosts. In paper IV, we describe the development of an *in vitro* model (vole embryonic fibroblasts, VEFs) for studies of bank vole borne viruses and induction of innate antiviral reactions in response to infection. This model will be a valuable tool for future studies of how PUUV and other zoonotic viruses harbored by bank voles affect cells from their natural host compared to human cells. Also, wild type PUUV was shown to infect VEFs, indicating that cells from natural hosts might be a way of isolation and propagation of hantaviruses.

In conclusion, the results included in this thesis contribute to an increased knowledge about hantaviruses and their interactions with human and natural host cells. This knowledge, combined with future studies will hopefully lead to a better understanding of hantavirus pathogenesis and ultimately result in a cure.

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA (SUMMARY IN SWEDISH)

Virus kan orsaka en mängd sjukdomar. De är beroende av värdceller för att föröka sig, använder byggstenar från sin värd för att bygga upp nya viruspartiklar och har en anmärkningsvärd förmåga att snabbt anpassa sig till nya förutsättningar. Därför är det svårt att utveckla läkemedel mot virus.

Hantavirus

Denna avhandling handlar om en grupp virus som kallas hantavirus. Dessa virus finns i de flesta delar av världen och sprids av infekterade gnagare (t ex råttor och sorkar) via deras avföring, urin eller saliv. Människor kan bli smittade genom inandning av förorenat damm, t ex vid städning av sommarstugan eller när man hugger ved. Globalt hamnar upp till 200 000 personer på sjukhus varje år pga hantavirus och än så länge finns det inget effektivt vaccin eller botemedel.

Sveriges variant av hantavirus finns i norra Sverige samt i stora delar av övriga norra Europa och kallas för Puumala efter den by i Finland där viruset isolerades första gången. Puumala orsakar sorkfeber och sprids av sorkar. I övriga världen finns det nära besläktade hantavirus som kan orsaka mycket allvarliga infektioner med Ebolaliknande blödarfeber som följd. De allvarligaste hantavirusinfektionerna sker i Nord- och Sydamerika med upp till 40% dödlighet. I jämförelse med dessa infektioner är vår inhemska sorkfeber relativt mild med cirka 0,4% dödlighet även om man kan bli mycket sjuk. De vanligaste symptomen vid sorkfeber är hög feber, muskelvärk, allmän sjukdomskänsla och ofta svåra buk- och ryggsmärtor. Njurarna påverkas och nedsatt njurfunktion kan ses under en till två veckor. Ibland kan även blödningar i huden och synrubbningar uppträda. Efter tillfrisknandet kan man känna sig trött i flera månader, men blir oftast helt återställd inom ett år. Troligtvis får man en livslång immunitet.

Varför blir vi sjuka?

Troligtvis är det immunförsvarets reaktioner mot infektionen och inte viruset i sig som orsakar sjukdom. De specifika reaktioner som skulle kunna vara involverade i detta är än så länge i stort sett okända. Vi vet att blodkärlen börjar läcka med risk för blödningar som följd. Vad som är orsaken till detta är oklart, men förmodligen formar tidiga ospecifika reaktioner mot viruset de senare och mer specifika reaktionerna på ett sådant sätt att väggarna i blodkärlen påverkas.

Gnagarna bär på hantavirus utan att bli sjuka, men orsakerna till detta har varit svåra att kartlägga pga att det inte har funnits några specifika verktyg för att studera immunförsvaret i dessa värddjur.

Syftet med avhandlingen

I denna avhandling har vi ställt oss frågan: varför blir människor men inte gnagare sjuka av hantavirus? Specifikt ville vi studera de tidigaste svaren mot hantavirus i infekterade celler från människa och jämföra dessa svar med vad som sker i celler från den naturliga värden. Skulle vi få svar på vilka immunförsvarsreaktioner som sker i människor men inte i gnagare är vi ett steg närmare en behandlingsmetod som skulle kunna hämma de skadliga reaktionerna som sker mot hantavirus i människor!

Interferoner

En av de tidigaste ospecifika reaktionerna mot virusinfektioner är interferoner. Dessa har antivirala egenskaper som både kan hämma virusets tillväxt men också forma de specifika immunförsvarsreaktionerna som brukar utvecklas i kroppen något senare. Hantavirus och även många andra virus har tidigare både visat sig hämma produktionen av interferoner men också deras antivirala effekter.

För att öka kunskapen om hantavirus och deras interaktioner med det tidiga ospecifika immunförsvaret försökte vi svara på nedanstående frågor:

Hur ser produktionen av interferoner ut i patienter och kan hantavirus hämma interferonernas effekt?

I artikel I visade vi att produktionen av interferoner är hämmad i sorkfeberpatienter och att en relativt nyupptäckt typ av interferon, interferon lambda, kan hämma tillväxt av hantavirus i cellkultur. Dock syns effekten endast om interferonet tillsätts innan infektion eftersom redan infekterade celler verkar vara helt motståndskraftiga mot interferonets effekt. Vi tror att avsaknaden av interferon i hantavirusinfekterade patienter kan vara förknippat med det kraftiga immunsvar som uppkommer i samband med en hantavirusinfektion.

Hur ser interferonproduktionen ut över tid i hantavirusinfekterade celler?

I artikel II redogjorde vi för upptäckten att produktionen av interferon lambda kan regleras annorlunda än övriga interferoner, vilket aldrig har visats tidigare. Vi visade vidare att de celler vi använder för att tillverka högkoncentrerade virus som vi sen använder i vår forskning, kan producera interferon lambda. Detta är en viktig upptäckt som man bör ha i åtanke vid framtida studier med virusstockar odlade i dessa celler så att man inte råkar studera effekten av interferon lambda i stället för effekten av virusinfektionen.

Finns det risk att dra felaktiga slutsatser om man studerar virus som är anpassade till en cellkultur?

Virusstockar som används i vetenskapliga experiment är egentligen en blandning av en mängd olika varianter av samma virus som är mycket nära besläktade. Detta beror på att virus förändrar sina egenskaper väldigt fort. Man kan anta att de virusstockar som vi använder oss av har förändrat sig bort från hur de beter sig i den naturliga värden till någonting annat som växer bra i cellkulturer på laboratoriet.

I artikel III kartlade vi egenskaperna hos två varianter av sorkfeber som vi hittade i en och samma virusstock. Vi upptäckte flera skillnader mellan dessa två men också jämfört med originalstocken. Tillväxthastigheten men även storleken på interferonsvaret i infekterade celler skiljde sig en hel del mellan de olika varianterna. Dessa resultat visar att risken med användandet av de virusstockar vi har på laboratoriet idag är att man studerar effekten av spontana förändringar hos viruset i stället för det man skulle sett om man använde ursprungsviruset. Problemet är dock att virus som kommer direkt från värden eller patienter inte växer bra i cellkultur, vilket betyder att för studier på laboratoriet är man tvingad att använda virus anpassade till cellkultur.

Hur ser interferonsvaret mot virusinfektioner ut i celler isolerade från sorkar?

Hittills har det varit enormt svårt att studera sorkfeber och andra gnagarburna virus i den naturliga värden pga brist på artspecifika verktyg. Därför har man inte kunnat jämföra immunsvaren mot hantavirus i människa med vad som sker i gnagare.

I artikel IV beskriver vi utvecklandet av en metod för att studera sorkfeber och andra sorkburna virus såsom fästingburen encefalit (TBE), kokoppor och Ljunganvirus, i en cellkultur som vi isolerat från sorkembryon. Vidare har vi utvecklat flera artspecifika verktyg för att göra grundläggande studier av tidiga ospecifika immunförsvarsreaktioner i dessa celler. Våra resultat från Puumalainfekterade sorkceller tyder på att interferonsvaren i sorkar skiljer sig markant från hur det ser ut i människor. Framtida studier kommer visa mer i detalj vilka skillnaderna är och hur regleringen av interferonsvaret skiljer sig åt mellan arterna. Man kan dessutom utveckla liknande metoder för andra gnagararter som bär på andra mer dödliga hantavirus, och det vore intressant att studera skillnaderna mellan dessa och sorkar. Vad är det som gör att Puumala är mindre dödlig än andra nära besläktade hantavirus? Svaret på den frågan skulle kunna hjälpa oss att utveckla mer effektiva behandlingsmetoder än de vi har idag.

En annan viktig upptäckt var att virus som endast odlats i sorkar tidigare, och inte i cellkultur, växte bra i vår sorkcellinje. Detta bådar gott för framtida isoleringar av hantavirus i dessa celler från den naturliga värden, vilket förhoppningsvis kommer att generera virusstockar som mera liknar det virus som infekterar sorkar och patienter. Användandet av sådana virusstockar vid experiment på laboratoriet kan ge resultat som mer liknar vad som sker vid naturliga infektioner jämfört med de virus som är anpassade till cellkultur som vi använder idag.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
ANDV	Andes virus
BSL	Biosafety level
cDC	Conventional DC
CTL	Cytotoxic T cell
CPXV	Cow pox virus
CRP	C-reactive protein
DC	Dendritic cell
DOBV	Dobrava virus
ds	Double-stranded
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
G	Guanosine
HCPS	Hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome
HFRS	Hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome
hpi	Hours post infection
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IPS	IFN-β promoter stimulator protein
IRF	IFN regulatory factor
ISG	IFN-stimulated gene
ISGF	IFN-stimulated gene factor
Jak	Janus kinases
KHAV	Khabarovsk virus
L	Large RNA segment
LV	Ljungan virus
М	Medium RNA segment
MDA	Melanoma differentiation associated gene
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
MyD	Myeloid differentiation factor
Ν	Nucleocapsid protein
NE	Nephropathia epidemica
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NK	Natural killer
NO	Nitric oxide
OAS	2'5'-oligoadenylate synthetase
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
pDC	Plasmacytoid DC
PHV	Prospect Hill virus
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PUUV	Puumala virus
RdRp	RNA-dependent RNA polymerase
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible protein-I

Respiratory syncytial virus
Small RNA segment
Seoul virus
Sin Nombre virus
Single-stranded
Signal transducer and activation of transcription
Tick-borne encephalitis virus
TANK-binding kinase
T helper
Toll-like receptor
Topografov virus
Tumor necrosis factor
TNF receptor-associated factor
Regulatory T cell
Toll/IL-1-resistance domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN- β
Tula virus
Vascular endothelial
Vole embryonic fibroblast
VE growth factor
Viral RNA
Wild type

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original papers, which in the text will be referred to by their roman numerals:

- I. Stoltz, M., Ahlm, C., Lundkvist, Å., Klingström, J. 2007. Lambda interferon (IFN-lambda) in serum is decreased in hantavirus-infected patients, and in vitro-established infection is insensitive to treatment with all IFNs and inhibits IFN-gamma-induced nitric oxide production. *J Virol.* 81(16):8685-91.
- II. Stoltz, M., Klingström, J. 2010. Alpha/beta interferon (IFN-alpha/beta)independent induction of IFN-lambda1 (interleukin-29) in response to Hantaan virus infection. *J Virol.* 84(18):9140-8.
- III. Sundström, K.B., Stoltz, M., Lagerqvist, N., Lundkvist, Å., Nemirov, K., Klingström, J. 2011. Characterization of two substrains of Puumala virus with phenotypes that are different from each other and from the original strain. *J Virol.* 85(4):1747-56.
- IV. Stoltz, M., Sundström, K. B., Hidmark, Å., Tolf, C., Vene, S., Ahlm, C., Lindberg, A. M., Lundkvist, Å., Klingström, J. 2011. A model system for in vitro studies of bank vole borne viruses. *PLoS ONE, in press.*

CONTENTS

 1.1 History of hantaviruses	1 2 3 3 4 4 5 6 6
 1.2 Clinical syndromes caused by hantavirus infections	2 3 3 4 4 5 6 6
 1.2.1 Transmission to humans and other hosts	
 1.2.2 HFRS	
 1.2.3 HCPS	
 1.3 Classification	4 5 6 6
 1.4 Structure	5 6 6
 1.5 Replication	6 6
 1.5.1 Attachment and entry	6
 1.5.2 Transcription, replication of genome and translation 1.5.3 Assembly and exit	0
 1.5.3 Assembly and exit 1.6 Innate immune responses to viral infections	on6
 1.6 Innate immune responses to viral infections	6
 1.6.1 Cells and inflammation	7
 1.6.2 Toll like receptors	7
 1.6.3 Intracellular recognition of virus	
 1.6.4 Interferons 1.7 Adaptive immune responses to viral infections	9
 Adaptive immune responses to viral infections	9
 1.7.1 Cell-mediated response	
 1.7.2 Humoral response 1.8 Hantavirus pathogenesis and immune responses in human 1.8.1 Innate and cell-mediated adaptive responses 1.8.2 Humoral responses 	13
 1.8 Hantavirus pathogenesis and immune responses in human 1.8.1 Innate and cell-mediated adaptive responses. 1.8.2 Humoral responses 	14
1.8.1 Innate and cell-mediated adaptive responses1.8.2 Humoral responses	ıs15
1.8.2 Humoral responses	
1.0.2 Humorul responses	17
1.8.3 Animal model systems for studies of pathogenesis	17
1.9 Treatment and control.	
1.9.1 Antiviral drugs	
1.9.2 Vaccines	
1.9.3 Passive immunisation	19
1.10 Hantaviruses and their hosts	19
1.10.1 Shedding and maintenance of infection	
1.10.2 Immune responses and mechanisms of persistence	
1.11 In vitro cell culture systems and isolation of virus	
2 Aims	
3 Results and discussion	
3.1 IFN- λ responsiveness and inhibition of IFN signalling (pa	per I) 24
3.2 IFN- α/β -independent induction of IFN- λ (paper II)	
3.3 Characterisation of different substrains of PUUV (paper I	II)26
3.4 In vitro studies of bank vole borne viruses (paper IV)	
4 Concluding remarks	
5 Acknowledgements	
6 References	

1 INTRODUCTION

Hantaviruses are rodent and insectivore borne viruses that have been identified as etiological agents of two diseases in humans: hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (HFRS) and hantavirus cardiopulomonary syndrome (HCPS). Globally, there are approximately 200 000 reported hantavirus cases annually, with a mortality rate of up to 40% depending on type of infecting hantavirus. The mechanisms causing the disease are not well known, and there is no cure or safe and reliable vaccine available.

1.1 HISTORY OF HANTAVIRUSES

Clinical syndromes that resemble HFRS have been described several times over the years, even as far back as the 10th century in China [1], and during the World War I [2]. In Sweden a mild form of HFRS was first described as early as 1934 [3, 4], a disease that later was designated nephropathia epidemia (NE) [5]. It was not until an outbreak in the early 1950s during the Korean War that HFRS was brought to the attention of the western world. Thousands of United Nations soldiers got ill with fever, renal failure and shock, which led to a long search for the disease-causing agent. Finally, the Hantaan virus (HTNV) was isolated from a striped field mouse (Apodemus agrarius) captured near the Hantaan river in 1978 [6], and was later also successfully propagated in A549 [7] and Vero E6 cells [8]. A few years after the isolation of HTNV, another hantavirus called Seoul virus (SEOV) was isolated from rats (Rattus norvegicus) in Korea [9]. The first hantavirus to be discovered in the Americas was the nonpathogenic Prospect Hill virus (PHV), which was isolated from meadow voles (Microtus pennsylvaticus) in the United States [10, 11]. In Europe, the etiological agent of NE was first detected with an immunofluorescence assay on tissue samples from bank voles (Myodes glareolus) [12]. Later, the virus was isolated from these bank voles, that were captured near the village Puumala in Finland, and subsequently named Puumala virus (PUUV) [13]. A decade later, Dobrava virus (DOBV) was isolated from a yellow-necked field mouse (Apodemus flavicollos) in former Yugoslavia [14], and shown to be associated with HFRS [15, 16].

In 1993, the first cases of HCPS were described in the southwestern United States [17], and soon thereafter the disease-causing Sin Nombre virus (SNV) was isolated from a deer mouse (*Peromyscus maniculatus*) and propagated in Vero E6 cells [18]. A few years later another hantavirus named Andes virus (ANDV) caused a large number of HCPS cases in South America [19].

Until quite recently, the only confirmed hantavirus with another natural host than a rodent was Thottapalyam virus, isolated from the insectivore Musk shrew (*Suncus murinus*) in India [20]. However, several other hantaviruses have now been associated with insectivore hosts [21-23].

Since the first initial discoveries the number of known hantaviruses has increased rapidly. Today, there are 23 officially recognised species (as defined by the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses) (Table 1).

Old World Hantaviruses

Virus	Disease	Reservoir	Distribution
Dobrava-Belgrade virus (DOBV	/)HFRS	Apodemus flavicollis	Balkans
Hantaan (HTNV)	HFRS	Apodemus agrarius	China, Korea, Russia
Khabarovsk virus (KBAV)	Unknown	Microtus fortis	Russia
Puumala virus (PUUV)	HFRS	Myodes glareolus	Europe, Russia,
			Scandinavia
Saaremaa virus (SAAV)	HFRS	Apodemus agrarius	Europe
Seoul virus (SEOV)	HFRS	Rattusnorvegicus,	Worldwide
		Rattus rattus	
Thailand virus (THAIV)	Unknown	Bandicota indica	Thailand
Tula virus (TULV)	Unknown	Microtus arvalis	Europe
Thottapalayam virus (TPMV)	Unknown	Suncus murinus	India
Topografov virus (TOPV)	Unknown	Lemmus sibericus	Siberia

New World Hantaviruses

Virus	Disease	Reservoir	Distribution
Andes virus (ANDV)	HCPS	Oligoryzomys longicaudatus	Argentina, Chile
Bayou virus (BAYV)	HCPS	Oryzomys palustris	USA
Black Creek Canal virus (BCCV)HCPS		Sigmodon hispidus	USA
Cano Delgadito virus (CADV)	Unknown	Sigmodon alstoni	Venezuela
El Moro Canyon virus (ELMCV)Unknown	Reithrodontomys megalotis	USA, Mexico
Isla Vista virus (ISLAV)	Unknown	Microtus californicus	USA
Laguna Negra virus (LANV)	HCPS	Calomys laucha	Argentina, Bolivia,
			Paraguay
Muleshoe virus (MULV)	Unknown	Sigmodon hispidus	USA
New York virus (NYV)	HCPS	Peromyscus leucopus	USA
Prospect Hill virus (PHV)	Unknown	Microtus pennsylvanicus	USA, Canada
Rio Mamore virus (RIOMV)	Unknown	Oligoryzomys microtis	Bolivia, Peru
Rio Segundo virus (RIOSV)	Unknown	Reithrodontomys mexicanus	Costa Rica
Sin Nombre virus (SNV)	HCPS	Peromyscus maniculatis	USA, Canada,
			Mexico

Table adapted from Schmaljohn and Hjelle 1997 and Jonsson et al. 2010 [24, 25].

Table 1. Hantaviruses according to the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses.

1.2 CLINICAL SYNDROMES CAUSED BY HANTAVIRUS INFECTIONS

Hantaviruses are found almost all over the World and are often referred to as Old World and New World hantaviruses due to their geographic distribution and the type of illness (HFRS or HCPS, respectively) they cause. The Old World HFRS-causing hantaviruses can be found in Eurasia and includes DOBV, HTNV, PUUV and SEOV while the New World HCPS-causing hantaviruses are found in the Americas with ANDV and SNV as important examples. Mortality rates vary with type of hantavirus. HCPS-causing hantaviruses are the most deadly with death rates up to 40%, while the HFRS-causing hantaviruses have mortality rates that vary between 0.4% for PUUV [26], which causes a milder form of HFRS, and up to 15% for HTNV [24]. Why some

hantaviruses cause more severe pathogenesis than others is not known. Generally, HFRS is characterised by hemorrhage and renal failure while HCPS is associated with pathology of the lung. However, there are reports of NE-patients with pulmonary dysfunction and involvement of the lung [27-29] and HCPS-cases with kidney involvement [30] or renal sequelae [31]. For most hantaviruses, it appears that the infection can be asymptomatic or cause a mild disease not possible to diagnose correctly. One feature that implies subclinical infections is that the seroprevalence can be quite high, e. g. up to 8.9% for PUUV in northern Sweden [32].

1.2.1 Transmission to humans and other hosts

Humans are infected mainly by inhalation of infected rodent excreta [33] and therefore disease caused by hantaviruses occurs within the geographically range of the natural host. Activities involving for instance farming [34, 35], forestry [36], handling of rodents [33], handling of firewood or cleaning [37] can increase the risk of being exposed. Humans are usually described as dead-end hosts, with ANDV as the exception being the only hantavirus that has been reported to be transmitted from person-to-person [38-40]. For PUUV, it has also been reported that transmission can occur via transfusion of platelets [41].

There have been human hantavirus infections associated with infected laboratory animal colonies [33, 42, 43]. The likely cause of infection here could be inhalation of contaminated air in the animal facility or wounding during animal experiments. Therefore, rodents infected with HFRS-causing hantaviruses should be handled under at least biosafety level 3 (BSL-3) conditions, and animals infected with HCPS-causing viruses must be maintained under BSL-4 conditions. Although there are no reports of illness associated with cultivating hantaviruses in cell cultures, most hantaviruses are designated as BSL-3 agents when propagated in cell culture [44].

In addition to humans, transmission of hantaviruses from rodents to domestic and wild animals seem to be possible. Antibodies directed against hantaviruses have been found in several animals including cats, dogs [45], monkeys living in outdoor enclosures [46], hares, deer, cows [47] and moose [48]. Interestingly, hantavirus antigens have been found in the lungs of birds [49] and bats [50].

1.2.2 HFRS

The up to 200 000 cases of HFRS described each year occur in Europe and Asia, especially in China [24, 51]. The onset of disease is characterised by non-specific flu-like symptoms followed by thrombocytopenia, capillary leakage with hemoconcentration, and in severe cases renal failure and shock [52]. The infection starts in the lungs after inhalation of infected aerosols with an incubation period ranging from 2-3 weeks for HTNV [53] and up to 42 days for PUUV [54]. HFRS is generally divided into five different phases: febrile, hypotensive, oliguric, polyuric and convalescent. However, all of these five stages are not always present or easy to distinguish, especially for the milder cases, and there are huge differences in manifestation and severity of symptoms between different individuals and between different types of hantaviruses. A summary of some of the clinical manifestations that can be observed during the different phases of HFRS is presented below (as reviewed in [24, 52, 55, 56]):

- The febrile phase starts with an abrupt onset of high fever and chills, followed by headache, back and abdominal pain, nausea and thirst. Flushing of the face and tissue edema are often observed for HTNV, but rarely for PUUV.
- At the end of the febrile phase, the hypotensive phase might develop which includes low blood pressure (hypotension) induced by vascular leakage and hemorrhage. Nausea and vomiting are common and this phase sometimes includes severe or fatal shock.
- The oliguric phase is caused by a transient impairment of renal function with decreased urine output that contains protein and red blood cells. High levels of nitrogen-containing compounds, such as urea and creatinine, can be found in the blood. In severe cases, haemodialysis might be required. Central nervous system involvements sometimes occur with symptoms such as restlessness, confusion and tremor. Convulsion may also develop. This phase is also characterised by continued bleedings and thrombocytopenia. Severe, life-threatening internal bleedings can occur, especially for HTNV patients. In NE patients, less severe bleedings are observed.
- As the renal function returns to normal the polyuric phase with increased urine output starts. Patients that survive until this phase will most often recover from the disease, but shock may still occur.
- The convalescent phase can last for several months before the patient is fully recovered.

1.2.3 HCPS

HCPS occurs in the Americas and is characterised by a rapid onset of respiratory failure and cardiogenic shock. Since HCPS was first described, over 500 cases have been reported in the United States with an overall mortality rate of 36% [57]. In fatal cases, a widespread presence of viral antigen has been detected in endothelial cells of the vasculature (especially in the lung), but also in dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages and lymphocytes [58]. HCPS resemble HFRS in some ways, including fever, thrombocytopenia and capillary leakage, but is characterised by severe cardiopulmonary dysfunction instead of renal failure. After an incubation period of 9 to 33 days [59], the first symptoms can be fever, muscle pain, headache, abdominal pain and nausea that last for 3-5 days. After that, the cardiopulmonary involvement begins with coughing, rapid breathing ("shortness of breath"), increased heart rate and low blood pressure followed by respiratory distress and pulmonary edema (fluid in the lungs). Patients may often need mechanical ventilation to survive, but despite hospitalisation in a well-run intensive care unit 30-40% of the patients die [25, 60]. The convalescent phase is 3-4 weeks but symptoms such as shortness of breath may persist for 1-2 years after acute infection [61].

1.3 CLASSIFICATION

After the recognition of HTNV it was included in the family *Bunyaviridae* based on the characteristics that are shared among all other members of this family, e. g.:

- A morphological investigation with electron microscopy revealed a spherical shape with a diameter of approximately 95 nm, and an envelope [8, 62].
- A single-stranded (ss) negative-sense RNA genome [63, 64].

- Three separate viral nucleocapsids, each composed of nucleocapsid protein (N) and a single RNA [63].
- Two virus-specific glycoproteins associated with the virion membrane [65].
- Replication of the virus in cytoplasm and budding from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) [66].

Because of the absence of serological relation with any of the other viruses within the four genera of *Bunyaviridae*, a different mode of transmission and a unique terminal genome sequence [63, 67] it was proposed that HTNV should be placed in a new genus within this family. The name hantavirus was suggested, a name that later on got generally accepted.

1.4 STRUCTURE

The hantavirus particle is spherical and generally 80-120 nm in diameter [68]. The virus has an envelope, formed by membrane lipids derived from the host cell, with inserted heterodimers of the glycoproteins Gn and Gc. Inside the envelope, there are three separate nucleocapsids consisting of N and viral (v)RNA. The nucleocapsids are associated with the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp). As for the other members of *Bunyaviridae*, each genomic RNA forms a circular structure by base pairing of the highly conserved and complementary 3'- and 5'-terminal nucleotides [69] (Figure 1).



Figure 1. The hantavirus particle.

The genome is divided into three negative-sense RNA segments [63]. The S (small), M (medium) and L (large) segments encodes the N, the glycoproteins and the RdRp, respectively [70]. At least PUUV and TULV have an additional open reading frame in the S segment that encodes a possible nonstructural protein [71].

1.5 REPLICATION

The replication cycle of hantaviruses is rather slow, *in vitro* it can take more than 24 hours from infection to presence of secreted infectious virus [72]. Replication occurs in the cytoplasm of infected cells, involving the ER/Golgi system [73]. *In vitro*, hantaviruses can infect many cell types including endothelial cells, monocytes/macrophages [74, 75] and DCs [76].

1.5.1 Attachment and entry

Attachment to host cells occurs via interaction of the glycoproteins to β 1 intergrin for non-pathogenic, and to β 3 integrin for pathogenic hantaviruses [77-79], with decay-accelerating factor/CD55 as a critical cofactor for infection at least for HTNV and PUUV [80]. HTNV enter the cell by endocytosis via clathrin-coated vesicles and subsequent transfer to early endosomes that acidifies into lyzosomes [81]. It is believed that the low pH mediates fusion of the lyzosomal and viral membrane [81]. In this process, the three nucleocapsids are uncoated and delivered to the cytoplasm, where the viral RdRp synthesises mRNA from the S, M and L segments.

1.5.2 Transcription, replication of genome and translation

The initiation of transcription is a process where N is believed to be involved [82, 83] and the primers that are needed are cleaved from the 5' ends of host cell cytoplasmic mRNAs in a process called cap-snatching [84, 85]. During cap-snatching, there is a strong preference for the viral RdRp (that can function as an endonuclease) to cut the host mRNA after a guanosine (G). Initiation of both transcription and replication has been suggested to occur according to a prime-and-realign model [85] where the G at the 3' end of the primer aligns with the third nucleotide of the template RNA. The polymerase elongates the primer a few nucleotides, but before further elongation the produced molecule slips back (realigns) on the template such that the original 3' G of the primer ends up at position -1. Thereby, an exact copy of the 5' end of the template RNA is created [85]. Like for other RNA viruses the main source of genetic variation is genetic drift due to a polymerase without proofreading [86].

During replication, the vRNA is used as a template for synthesis of antigenomic RNA, which in turn acts as template for synthesis of new vRNA. The newly synthesised vRNA is either used as an additional template for production of more mRNA (secondary transcription) or assembly [73]. The initiation of translation is operated by the hantaviral N [87]. The S and L mRNAs are translated into N and RdRp proteins, respectively, on free ribosomes. The glycoproteins are translated from M mRNA as a glycoprotein precursor on membrane bound ribosomes, followed by a cleavage into Gn and Gc at the conserved WAASA-motif [88], and glycosylation [89, 90]. For HTNV it has been shown that the glycoproteins then dimerise in ER followed by transportation to the Golgi complex [91, 92].

1.5.3 Assembly and exit

Encapsidation and formation of nucleocapsids are suggested to be initiated after interaction between trimeric N and the panhandle structures on vRNA [93]. The panhandle structures are unique and allow N to discriminate between viral and non-

viral RNA molecules. After that, the nucleocapsids are assembled with Gn and Gc, likely via an interaction between N and the cytoplasmic tails of the glycoproteins [94, 95], but also RNA [83, 96].

The envelope for viruses within the *Bunyaviridae* is derived when budding from the Golgi, and the infectious virus particles are released by exocytosis [73]. An alternative pathway for exit by budding at the plasma membrane has been suggested for SNV and Black Creek Canal virus [97, 98].

1.6 INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES TO VIRAL INFECTIONS

Immune responses to viral infections are shaped by early innate events. The recognition of viruses is mediated by interactions between pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). PAMPs are broadly shared among pathogens but distinguishable from self molecules. The viral PAMPs have primarily been described as viral genomes or replication intermediates, but there are examples of other parts of the virus, such as glycoproteins, that can be recognised by PRRs [99].

The innate immunity comprises non-specific barriers such as skin, mucous membranes, phagocytes, natural killer (NK) cells, inflammation and chemical mediators e. g. interferons (IFNs) and complement.

1.6.1 Cells and inflammation

The innate immunity and the phagocytic cells are crucial for development of the adaptive immunity and conversely, soluble factors produced by the specific immune response improve the function of innate immunity. Phagocytic cells such as blood monocytes, DCs, neutrophils, and tissue macrophages, phagocytose and break down foreign material. DCs and macrophages are activators of the adaptive immune system through antigen presentation where ingested antigens are presented to T cells [100].

NK cells do not attack pathogens directly but act on infected cells that in response to the infection express more activating than inhibiting ligands. NK cells are also activated by IFN- α , IFN- β , tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interleukin (IL)-12 and IL-15. The killing of cells occurs in a similar manner as for cytotoxic T cells (CTLs). Granules containing perforin and granzymes can be found in the cytoplasm of NK cells. Degranulation occurs after adhesion to a target cell and perforin and granzymes are released in the immunological synapse formed between the two cells, with granzyme B inducing subsequent apoptosis of the target cell. In addition, NK cells can influence the adaptive immune response directly by secreting IFN- γ [101].

The inflammatory response is triggered by wounding or an invading pathogen. Within minutes the nearby blood vessels increase their diameter and the blood flow is decreased. This is a process called vasodilation and causes redness of the inflamed area and a local increase in tissue temperature. The capillaries also increase their permeability which results in transfer of fluid and cells into the inflamed tissue, which can induce tissue swelling (edema). Neutrophils are generally the first cell type to move from the blood to the damaged tissue. Other phagocytes, such as macrophages, also

accumulate in the inflamed area where they release lytic enzymes that kill microorganisms but also cause damage to nearby healthy cells. Another important player during inflammation is histamine, which is released by a variety of cells (e. g. mast cells) in response to tissue damage. The role of histamine is to interact with the surface of nearby blood capillaries, resulting in vasodilation and increased permeability [100]. Neutrophils and macrophages can also produce other anti-microbial substances such as reactive oxygen or nitrogen intermediates (e. g. nitric oxide (NO)) which have an important role in killing pathogens but also contribute to the tissue damage that can result from an inflammatory response [102].

Cytokines work at picomolar concentrations by binding to receptors on target cells. The production is carefully regulated, and the effects are often local, but can also be systemic. Cytokines are produced by a variety of cells and can also act on numerous types of cells. For example, IL-1 (IL-1 α and IL-1 β) is produced by phagocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, B and T cells and stimulates T cell proliferation and histamine release from mast cells. IL-6 can be produced by a variety of cells, but the main sources are monocytes, macrophages, T cells, fibroblasts and endothelial cells. IL-6 promotes production of neutrophils in the bone marrow, T cell activation and differentiation, growth and differentiation of B cells and stimulates antibody production. TNF- α is often macrophage-derived, but may also be produced by fibroblasts, neutrophils, mast cells, T or NK cells, and is involved in increasing the vascular permeability. IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α all affects the thermoregulatory centre in the brain, which results in fever. Both IL-1 and TNF- α in a negative feedback loop [100, 103, 104].

In response to production of IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α , there is a release of chemical mediators such as acute-phase proteins from cells in the liver. C-reactive protein (CRP) is a major acute-phase protein that can increase in serum during an acute-phase response. Its physiological role is to bind to the surface of a wide variety of damaged dead or dying cells and thereby activate complement-mediated lysis or complement-mediated increase in phagocytosis [103, 105].

1.6.2 Toll like receptors

Of the PRRs, the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are the most well-studied. TLRs are expressed by various immune cells including macrophages, DCs, B cells, specific types of T cells, but also by non-immune cells such as fibroblasts and epithelial cells [106]. Ligands to human TLRs include bacterial lipoproteins for TLR2 [107], double-stranded (ds)RNA for TLR3 [108], lipopolysaccharide for TLR4 [109], flagellin for TLR5 [110], ssRNA for TLR7 and TLR8 [111, 112] and unmethylated CpG DNA for TLR9 [113]. TLRs specialised in recognition of viral infections (nucleic acids of viral genomes) include TLR3, TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 which all are located in the membranes of endosomal compartments, with the exception of TLR3 that also has been detected on the surface of epithelial cells. Stimulation of a TLR (with the exception of TLR3) recruits adaptor proteins such as myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88) [114] to the cytoplasmic part of the receptor and activation of downstream signalling cascades with production of proinflammatory cytokines and IFNs. RNA viruses are normally recognised by TLR3, which is expressed in conventional (c)DCs and

epithelial cells. TLRs can also be stimulated by host-derived immune-stimulators such as heat-shock proteins and uric acid, which are present during tissue damage (e. g. caused by viral infections) [106].

1.6.3 Intracellular recognition of virus

In the cytoplasm, viral genomes in the form of dsRNA are detected by retinoic acidinducible protein-I (RIG-I) [115] or the melanoma differentiation associated gene 5 (MDA5) [116]. Interestingly, poly(I:C), a dsRNA analogue and known inducer of IFN, has been shown to activate MDA5 but not RIG-I [117, 118]. Recognition of vRNA by RIG-I requires a 5'triphosphate group [119, 120], but RIG-I can also bind short dsRNA in a 5'triphosphate-independent manner [121]. When transfecting cells with vRNA isolated from virus particles it was indicated that some RNA viruses, including HTNV, posttranscriptionally remove the RIG-I-activating triphosphate group from its RNA during viral replication as a way of counteracting recognition by RIG-I [122]. However, studies of replicating HTNV in cells, in which RIG-I was knocked-down, demonstrated a potential role of RIG-I in the antiviral response. Transfections with *in vitro* transcribed RNA demonstrated that RNA encoding for N was responsible for stimulation of RIG-I [123].

1.6.4 Interferons

IFNs are a group of secreted cytokines that have antiviral effects. They are divided into three classes named type I, II and III IFN. Type I IFNs were discovered in the 1950s [124]. In humans the type I IFNs consist of IFN- α (at least 13 genes), - β , - ϵ , - κ and - ω . Induction of IFN- α/β is important in response to viral infections while IFN- ϵ , - κ and - ω play less defined roles [125] and will not be discussed more in detail here. Type II IFN (IFN- γ) is produced mainly by activated T and NK cells and not as a direct response to viral infections. Type III IFNs comprise IFN- λ 1, - λ 2 and - λ 3, also known as IL-29, IL-28A and IL-28B, respectively. They were described in 2003 and were shown to have antiviral activity *in vitro* and *in vivo* [126-129]. We showed that IFN- λ can inhibit HTNV *in vitro* [paper I]. The ways of induction and biological properties for IFN- α/β and - λ have been described as overlapping [130-132]. However, we showed that the gene for IFN- λ 1 can be induced without the simultaneous induction of IFN- α/β in hantavirus infected cells [paper II]. This differential regulation has now also been described for human nasal epithelial cells infected with respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) [133] and Tioman virus infected bat splenocytes [134].

1.6.4.1 Induction of type I and III IFNs by viruses

The mechanisms involved in induction of type I IFNs are well documented. Recognition of a viral infection in a cell by either a TLR or an intracellular PRR induces production of IFN and can occur in at least three ways (Figure 2):

Recognition of dsRNA by TLR3 triggers its dimerisation and tyrosine phosphorylation [135] and recruitment of an adaptor called Toll/IL-1-resistance domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN-β (TRIF) [136]. TRIF activates two pathways that lead to transcriptional activation of IFN: the nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB) and the IFN regulatory factor (IRF) 3 [137] pathways. The NF-κB pathway involves interaction between

several different molecules in a signalling complex including TNF receptorassociated factor (TRAF) 6 [137] that ultimately leads to phosphorylation of I κ B [138], its subsequent ubiquitination and degradation and eventual nuclear uptake of NF- κ B [139] but also activation of MAPK and the phosphorylation and activation of ATF2/c-Jun [140]. Activation and phosphorylation of IRF-3 is mediated by TRAF3 [141, 142] that activates TANK-binding kinase (TBK-1) and the related IKK ϵ [143].

- Activation of RIG-I or MDA5 results in recruitment and activation of a mitochondrion-associated adaptor called IFN-β promoter stimulator protein 1 (IPS-1) [144]. IPS-1 transmits the signal to both the NF-κB and the IRF-3 [145] pathways described above.
- Triggering of TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 results in recruitment of MyD88 that in turn recruits a complex including TRAF3 and TRAF6 [141]. This leads to the activation of IRF-3, NF-κB and c-Jun in the same manner as described above for TLR3. In plasmacytoid (p)DCs, another molecule than IRF-3 is involved in IFN induction, named IRF-7, which is constitutively expressed. In pDCs, TRAF6 polyubiquitinates IRF-7, ultimately leading to its activation [146].



Figure 2. Induction of type I IFN by viruses. The induction of IFN- β transcription is initiated by the recognition of viral PAMPs by TLRs, RIG-I or MDA5. The recognition transmits the signal via different adaptor molecules to TRAF3 and TRAF6. TRAF3 activates the IRF-3 kinases TBK-1 and IKK ϵ . Phosphorylated IRF-3 forms dimers that translocates to the nucleus. Activation of TRAF6 leads to translocation of NF- κ B and c-Jun to the nucleus where they together with IRF-3 induce transcription of IFN- β .

IFN- α/β can be produced by any nucleated cell, with pDCs being the primary IFNproducing cells [147]. Expression of IFN- λ mRNA has been detected mainly in antigen-presenting cells such as pDCs [148, 149] but also in other types of cells [127, 150]. For herpes simplex virus it was shown that nearly all cell types have the capacity to produce IFN- λ upon infection but that pDCs and cDCs are the most effective producers [151]. TLR3, TLR4, TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 are known to induce both IFN- α/β and IFN- λ [149]. Knockout of RIG-I and MDA5 with siRNA indicate that RIG-I, but not MDA5, is involved in induction of IFN- λ at least when it comes to a response to RSV [133].

The majority of IFN- α promoters are only regulated by IRFs and they favor IRF-7 over IRF-3 [152]. The IFN- β promoter is activated by an enhanceosome containing IRFs, NF- κ B and c-Jun [153]. The IRF part in the enhanceosome might be both IRF-3 and IRF-7. With the exception of pDCs, IRF-3 is constitutively expressed while IRF-7 is an interferon stimulated gene (ISG), so generally IFN- β is induced early whereas the IFN- α s are expressed at higher levels but somewhat later [152, 154]. A similar pattern as for IFN- α was also observed for IFN- λ 2/3, with a delayed kinetics compared to IFN- λ 1, as a response to Sendai virus [155]. Analyses of the promoter regions for the IFN- λ 2/3. Additionally the IFN- λ 1 gene, like IFN- β , depends more on IRF-3 while the IFN- λ 2/3, like the IFN- α , are induced mainly by IRF-7 [155].

Previously, the expression patterns for IFN- α/β and IFN- λ s have been suggested to be similar [130]. However, and in contrast to what has been observed for activation of the IFN- β promoter by the enhanceosome, the IFN- λ 1 promoter may be activated by NF- κ B independently of IRF-3/7 [156], indicating different modes of regulation between the IFN- β and IFN- λ genes. In line with these assumptions it was shown that inhibition of the NF- κ B pathway in DCs and in animals only had a minor effect on IFN- α/β expression while IFN- λ expression was highly impaired [157]. Furthermore, we showed that IFN- λ can be induced without the simultaneous induction of IFN- α/β as a response to HTNV infection [paper II]. However, the specific mechanism underlying recognition of hantaviruses and specific induction of IFN- λ remain unclear and further expressions are needed.

1.6.4.2 Activation of signal transduction by IFN

IFN- α/β signals by interaction with its receptor IFNAR, which is composed of IFN- α 1 and IFN- α 2 subunits and is ubiquitously expressed. The induction of antiviral functions in the absence of immune cells is generally defined as the antiviral state, which can be achieved by stimulation of cells with IFN [125].

The interaction between IFN- α/β and its receptor activates Janus kinases (Jak). Jak activate the signal transducer and activation of transcription (STAT) 1 and STAT2 by phosphorylation. The activated STATs dimerise, associate with the DNA-binding protein IRF-9 to form the complex IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) and translocate to the nucleus. The ISGF3 binds to the IFN-stimulated response element and induces transcription of large number of ISGs [158] (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Interferon signalling. Secreted IFNs bind to their respective receptors and activate Jak that phosphorylates STAT1 and STAT2. The phosphorylated STATs dimerise and recruit IRF-9 to form the ISGF3 complex that translocates to the nucleus and activate ISG transcription.

The IFN- λ s signal through another receptor complex than IFN- α/β . The receptor complex for IFN- λ consists of the subunits IFN-28R α (also designated as CRF2-12) and IL-10R2 (also named CRF2-4). Sensitivity to IFN- λ is restricted to immune cells, e. g. pDCs and T cells [159, 160] and epithelial cells [161]. Neutrophils and NK cells have been shown to be important for IFN- λ -mediated inhibition of *in vivo* tumor growth [162, 163]. However, it is debated if NK cells can respond to IFN- λ or not [162, 164]. The sensitivity of epithelial cells suggests that IFN- λ prevent viral infections through skin and mucosal surfaces. This was confirmed *in vivo* using a Mx2 reporter system based on luciferase and stimulation of mice with IFN; for IFN- α/β the strongest responses were found mainly in organs intensively supplied with blood (liver and kidneys) while the most IFN- λ -responsive organs were large and small intestine, lung and salivary gland. Moderate responses were detected in lung and spleen for IFN- α/β and in stomach, kidney, spleen and heart for IFN- λ [165].

As for the IFNAR, the receptor for IFN- λ signals through the Jak-STAT pathway and activates the ISGF3 [127] and thereby also induction of ISGs and the antiviral state (Figure 3) [166]. The actions of IFN- α/β and IFN- λ are known to be negatively regulated by a group of proteins named suppressors of cytokine signalling [167, 168]. The signalling response to IFN- λ follows a similar pattern to the IFN- α/β response with induction of similar subsets of genes [169]. However, the antiviral effect of IFN- λ has been described as lower than for IFN- α/β , and IFN- λ 1 is generally more potent against viruses than IFN- λ 2/3 [128], as we also showed for HTNV [paper I].

Below is a summary of the functions of some of the more well-studied antiviral genes that are upregulated following IFN- $\alpha/\beta/\lambda$ stimulation:

- dsRNA-dependent protein kinase R is involved in the inhibition of translation and reduced protein synthesis through phosphorylation of a substrate known as the α subunit of the eukaryotic translational initiation factor 2.

- 2'5'-oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) activates RNaseL which is a protein that degrades cellular and vRNAs. Interestingly, some of the cleaved products have been shown to activate RIG-I [170, 171]. Furthermore, OAS is upregulated in hantavirus infected cells [172].
- Mx is a family of proteins with antiviral activity against a variety of viruses including the hantaviruses PUUV, TULV [173] and HTNV [174] and influenza [175]. The exact mechanisms of their functions remains largely unknown, but they are believed to recognise nucleocapsids and restrict them to the inside of the cell, thereby restricting viral replication [176]. It has been postulated that human MxA forms oligomeric rings around the tubular structure of viral nucleocapsids, forming a complex that blocks their function [177].

1.7 ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES TO VIRAL INFECTIONS

Unlike the innate immunity, the adaptive immunity is specific and develops an immunological memory upon recognition and response to a specific antigen, meaning that a second encounter results in a faster and more reactive response.

1.7.1 Cell-mediated response

The effector cells of cell-mediated immunity are T cells, which are produced in the bone marrow and mature in the thymus. There are two well-defined subpopulations of T cells: CD4+ T cells that are called T helper (Th) cells and CD8+ T cells that after activation gain cytotoxicity and are called CTLs. There is also a third type of T cell, regulatory T cells (Tregs), which is involved in turning off an immune response once the antigen has been eliminated from the body. Th cells recognise antigen presented on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II, and CD8+ T cells recognise antigen presented on MHC class I. The MHC class I molecule is expressed on all types of nucleated cells, while the MHC class II is present only on antigen-presenting cells (B-cells, DCs and macrophages) [100]. Depending on which types of cytokines that are present in the surroundings of antigen-primed Th cells, different types of subsets develop; Th1 or Th2. In general IL-12 is essential for development of Th1 cells and IL-4 is important for development of a Th2 response [178, 179].

- Th1 cells secrete IL-2, IFN-γ, and TNF-β and are responsible for many cellmediated functions such as activation of CD8+ T cells and macrophages, production of opsonization-promoting antibodies with Fc regions that fix complement, and the promotion of excessive inflammation and tissue injury. IFN-γ inhibits the expansion of Th2 cells. Generation of a Th1 response is mediated mainly by IL-12 that is produced by activated macrophages and DCs. More IL-12 is produced if DCs/macrophages are stimulated by IFN-γ (that mainly comes from activated T and NK cells). Thereby the whole process forms a positive feedback loop [178-180]. IL-12 may also be produced by IFNλ1-stimulated DCs [181]. Furthermore, IFN-λ1 acts to limit Th2 responses [159, 182] and the Th2 response (IL-4) also induces its inhibitor IFN-λ1 from pDCs in a feedback loop [182].
- Th2 cells secrete IL-4, IL-5, IL-6 and IL-10 and are responsible for activation of B cells and B cell-production of large amounts of IgM, IgE and noncomplement-activating IgG subtypes. Furthermore, IL-4 and IL-10 suppress

the expansion of Th1 cells. Even small amounts of IL-4 are sufficient to direct the development of Th2 cells. Mast cells and NK cells are also known to produce IL-4, but to a lesser extent. However, it is a bit unclear which exact cell types (except from Th cells) that are involved in the initial IL-4 release that triggers a Th2 response [178, 179].

The CD8+ T cells are activated to become CTLs by cytokines from activated Th1 cells (e. g. IL-2 and IFN- γ) together with recognition of antigen-MHC class I. Activated CTLs have the potential of killing infected cells by cytotoxic activity but can also produce IFN- γ . The mechanism for killing, as for NK cells, involves degranulation and release of perform and granzymes [100].

1.7.2 Humoral response

Humoral immunity involves B cell activation and results from the production of antibodies that circulate in the blood, plasma and lymph, fluids that a long time ago were called humors. Antibodies are often referred to as immunoglobulins (Igs). Antigen receptors on B-cells are transmembrane versions of their antibody molecules (mostly IgD or IgM). When antigen binds to the B cell membrane-bound antibody, the B cell gets activated. Some of the bound antigen is internalised and after processing, small fragments of the antigen is presented on MHC class II on the cell surface to Th cells. Activated Th cells then secrete cytokines that stimulate B cell division and differentiation into both antibody-secreting plasma cells and memory cells. Upon activation, different isotypes of antibodies can be produced: IgA, IgD, IgM, IgE or four subclasses of IgG (IgG1, IgG2, IgG3 and IgG4). Biological activities of secreted antibodies include:

- Neutralisation of infectious pathogens by block of viral binding sites and coating of bacteria.
- Opsonization, a process where IgG antibodies bind the pathogen and mediate its phagocytosis by macrophages or neutrophils. The Fc region on antibodies, bound to pathogens, can be recognised by the Fc receptor on macrophages and neutrophils. Binding to the Fc receptor enhance phagocytosis.
- Activation of complement is a process where antigen-antibody complexes bind to complement components, which then are activated and mediate lysis. IgM and most subclasses of IgG can activate complement.
- Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) is conducted by e. g. NK-cells, macrophages, monocytes, and neutrophils. Nonspecific cytotoxic cells lyse target cells specifically by binding to the Fc region of antibodies bound to surface antigens on the target cells. Various proteins that are secreted from the nonspecific cytotoxic cells then mediate the destruction of target cells by ADCC. For example macrophages and neutrophils release lytic enzymes, activated monocytes, macrophages and NK cells secrete TNF. ADCC mediated by NK cells may also involve cytotoxic granule-mediated killing [100].

1.8 HANTAVIRUS PATHOGENESIS AND IMMUNE RESPONSES IN HUMANS

The main symptoms during HFRS/HCPS are most likely caused by vascular dysfunction. Endothelial cells are infected without cell lysis or disruption of the endothelium. Hantavirus infection of endothelial cells might alter the permeability in other ways than direct killing of the cells. It is primarily the kidneys that are affected during HFRS and the lungs during HCPS. There is also a row of inflammatory responses involved, often termed as a "cytokine storm". In addition, hantavirus-specific T cells have been suggested to play an important role in the pathogenesis by attacking endothelial cells.

1.8.1 Innate and cell-mediated adaptive responses

The initial cells that are believed to be infected are β 3 integrin-bearing cells in the lung [77]. After that, there is a systemic infection (maybe mediated by movement of infected cells from the lung). The main target cells have been suggested to be endothelial cells since viral antigen has been detected in the endothelium of small vessels in the brain, lungs, heart, liver and kidneys in fatal HFRS and HCPS cases [28, 58, 183]. The non-cytopathogenic infection of endothelial cells *in vitro* [184] and the intense immune activation in patients suggest that symptoms are immunomediated and not a result of the infection itself, but the mechanisms for this are largely unknown.

The function of β 3 integrins on endothelial cells is to regulate endothelial cell barrier functions and activate platelets. Increases of fluid movement across the endothelial cell barriers is among other factors regulated by vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a cytokine that is ~50 000 times more efficient in increasing the vascular permeability than histamine [185]. It has been shown that β 3 integrins form complexes with the receptor for VEGF, and that this complex formation is involved in the negative regulation of VEGF responses [186]. Pathogenic hantaviruses attach to the inactive form of B3 integrin [187], resulting in inhibited integrin-directed endothelial cell migration [188]. In addition, and similar to the increased effect of VEGF that can be seen on β 3 integrin deficient cells [186], pathogenic hantaviruses enhance the permeabilising effect of VEGF [189]. For ANDV, infected endothelial cells have been shown to secrete VEGF, and elevated levels of VEGF have been found in patients. Also, ANDV infected endothelial cells display increased permeability and downregulation of the adherence junction molecule vascular endothelial (VE) cadherin in vitro [190]. Taken this together, it has been suggested that one mechanism for enhanced vascular permeability during hantavirus infections could be the block of β 3 integrin functions with increased sensitivity to VEGF and subsequent downregulation of VE cadherin [186].

Numerous pathogenic viruses [191, 192], including hantaviruses [71, 193-196] can inhibit IFN production. Type I IFN responses are e. g. inhibited by the cytoplasmic tail of NY-1 hantavirus Gn protein that disrupts TBK-1-TRAF3 complex formation [197] and the HTNV N that can sequester NF- κ B in the cytoplasm [198]. Furthermore, we [paper I] and others [195] have shown that hantaviruses can inhibit transduction of the IFN signal and subsequent induction of the antiviral state by interfering with Jak/STAT signalling. Transient expressions of the glycoproteins for ANDV and PHV implicate

that these proteins are involved in this inhibition [195], albeit the exact mechanism for this still is unknown.

IFN- γ is a molecule that is produced by activated NK or T cells that induces the production of TNF- α in monocytes and macrophages and stimulates the release of NO. It has been suggested to play a role in hantavirus pathogenesis. Elevated levels of IFN- γ have been detected in serum from HFRS patients from the Korean war [199]. SNV-patients have SNV N-specific T cells in their blood that produce large amounts of IFN- γ but not IL-4 [200] and that there are rigorous amounts of SNV-specific T cells (up to 44.2% of CD8+ T cells during early disease) in patients with a more severe form of disease than in less severe cases [201].

Immunohistochemical staining of tissues from fatal HCPS cases revealed both cells expressing monokines (IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α) and lymphokines (IL-2, IL-4, and TNF- β) [202]. A more recent study of the cytokine profile in HCPS patients suggests that IL-6 is associated with fatal outcome, and that there is a mixed Th1/Th2 immune response during the disease. Furthermore, the magnitude of the cytokine levels associated with a Th1 response correlated with the severity of the disease [203]. This goes well in line with the assumption that IFN- γ is associated with a Th1 response and that production of IFN- γ would activate macrophages to produce TNF- α [204] which could contribute to the capillary leakage. However, in contrast to these findings for HCPS, IFN- γ -producing T cells during the acute phase of HFRS caused by HTNV have been reported to reduce the risk of progression to acute renal failure [205]. In addition, memory T cells can be found in individuals after infection with PUUV and HTNV [206, 207].

Tubular damage, accumulations of CD8+ T cells in peritubular areas and increased expression of adhesion molecules (important for immune cell migration through endothelium into tissues), such as intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM) 1, have been found in kidney biopsies from NE patients. Interestingly, the ICAM-1 increase occured at the same locations as TNF- α could be detected [208], again indicating a role for TNF- α in the increased vascular permeability. In addition to the increased TNF- α expression in kidneys [208], elevated serum levels of IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α [209] and NO [210, 211] have been detected in PUUV-infected patients, with a correlation between levels of TNF- α and severity of disease [209]. NO is, as TNF- α , also a known inducer of vascular permeability [212, 213] and might also be involved in the pathogenesis.

Tregs suppress activation of the immune system, with involvement of cytokines such as transforming growth factor β and IL-10 [214]. In infected rodents with no signs of disease, Tregs are upregulated [215-217]. In contrast, during a longitudinal investigation of NE patients, no induction in Tregs could be observed, suggesting a possible mechanism for the rigorous and seemingly uncontrolled expansion of hantavirus-specific T cells in humans [218].

Lactate dehydrogenase is often used as a marker of tissue breakdown, and is often occurring at elevated levels in serum of hantavirus-infected patients [219]. Increased levels of serum perforin, granzyme B, and the epithelial cell apoptosis marker caspasecleaved cytokeratin-18 have also been observed during the acute phase of PUUV infection. The observed increase in perform and granzyme B suggest a possible role for CTLs and/or NK cells in the tissue damage during hantavirus-caused disease [220].

Indeed, NK cells seem to somehow be involved. Normally one would expect a rapid contraction of NK cell-mediated responses after an infection. However in NE patients, proliferation of a specific subset of NK cells, NKG2C⁺-NK cells, was observed, that remained functional at elevated numbers for at least 60 days after symptom debut. Interestingly, experimentally infected endothelial cells were found to express the corresponding activating NKG2C ligand HLA-E [221].

Taken together, HFRS/HCPS might be caused by infection of endothelial cells, with corresponding vascular leakage and infiltration of tissues by immune cells. Production of IFN and the antiviral state is inhibited in infected cells. Elevated levels of IFN- γ , IL-6, TNF- α , NO, VEGF and markers for apoptosis and tissue damage can be found in serum. Since infection does not induce direct cytopathogenic effects, it is likely that the pathology is mediated by other mechanisms. One suggested mechanism is that binding of pathogenic hantaviruses to β 3 integrins inhibit their ability to negatively regulate the permeabilising effects of VEGF. Also, the absence of Tregs might contribute to the development of uncontrolled immune reactions. Activated NK cells and CTLs might induce tissue damage, either by direct cytotoxic effects by release of perforin and granzyme B, or indirect via release of IFN- γ and subsequent TNF- α and NO release from macrophages that in turn can affect the permeability of endothelium.

1.8.2 Humoral responses

It has been demonstrated that DCs can be productively infected with HTNV, and that infected DCs do not gain loss of function but instead mature [76]. One could speculate that infected DCs serve as a vehicle for the virus to spread systemically but also to gain access to regional lymph nodes and induction of a powerful adaptive immune response. Antibodies of the IgA and IgM subtypes develop rapidly, while IgG arise more slowly [222, 223]. Interestingly, SNV-patients with detectable SNV-specific IgG responses during the first week of disease have a higher chance of a less severe outcome than SNV-patients with undetectable IgG responses [223], indicating an important role of the humoral response in defense against hantavirus infections. For NE, elevated levels of IgE are also present [224]. The humoral response towards hantavirus infections is long lasting, e. g. IgG antibodies can be detected in individuals that were infected with PUUV up to more than 50 years ago [225-227], and infected people are believed to gain life-long immunity.

1.8.3 Animal model systems for studies of pathogenesis

Over the years, several different animal model systems have been developed, trying to evoke clinical syndromes resembling what we see in humans. Laboratory mice are not known to harbor any hantavirus, but have still been used to study hantavirus infections. Newborn suckling mice were shown susceptible to and die from intracerebral inoculations [228] and later also intraperitoneal, intramuscular and subcutaneous inoculations with HTNV [229]. In addition to HTNV, SEOV [230] and DOBV [231] have also been shown to be lethal in the suckling mice model. However, the symptoms displayed in suckling rodents does not resemble HFRS/HCPS much [232].

The first and so far only animal model resembling HCPS in humans is the Syrian hamster (*Mesocricetus auratus*) model for infections with ANDV [233]. This hamster model has been useful for studies of the antiviral effect of ribavirin against hantaviruses [234], and for vaccination studies [235]. Interestingly, using the Syrian hamster model, it was shown that depletion of T cells had no impact on clinical disease or survival, indicating that T cells might not be as important as previously believed for pathogenesis [236].

As for HCPS there is only one animal model described that resembles HFRS; cynomolgus macaques infected with PUUV. Infection of cynomolgus macaques with wild type (wt) PUUV caused NE-like symptoms with elevated levels of cytokines (IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- α), CRP, creatinine and NO [237]. Staining for N was positive in kidney, spleen and liver. In the kidneys similar findings as in NE patients could be seen with tubular damage and inflammatory cell infiltrations containing mainly CD8+ T cells [238]. Interestingly and indicating an important role for antibodies against hantavirus infections, passive immunisation using serum from previously PUUV-infected monkeys could induce sterile protection and protect against pathogenesis [239].

1.9 TREATMENT AND CONTROL

A cure against hantavirus-induced disease will most likely involve a combination of therapies. In addition to an effective antiviral, there also might need to be a component involved that inhibit the immune responses of the host. As yet, there are no effective treatments available.

1.9.1 Antiviral drugs

There is no approved antiviral compound against hantaviruses. The only drug that has been shown to possess an antiviral activity *in vitro* [240] and *in vivo* in suckling mice [241] and Syrian hamsters [234] is ribavirin. This drug has also been tested intravenously in HFRS patients in China where ribavirin-treated patients showed reduced morbidity and severity of symptoms compared to the placebo control group [242]. In HCPS patients, intravenous administration showed no positive effects on the outcome of the disease [243].

Recombinant IFN- α in combination with antiviral drugs are sometimes used against viral infections, e. g. hepatitis C [244]. IFNs have been tested against hantavirus infections, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. IFN- α , - β - γ [245] and - λ [paper I] have been shown to inhibit HTNV *in vitro*. In addition, pretreatment with IFN- β protect against HTNV in murine macrophages [245]. When IFN- β was administered to newborn mice, both treatment before, during or up to 7 days after HTNV infection increased the survival rates [245]. In a human trial where IFN- α was administered intramuscularly in HTNV patients, no significant effect could be seen on mortality. However, severe bleedings and proteinuria were less pronounced in the treated compared to in the placebo group [246].

1.9.2 Vaccines

HantavaxTM is an inactivated vaccine produced in rodent brains. Only about 50% of the recipients develop neutralising antibodies [247], but its use has been associated with a 45% decrease in Korean HFRS-hospitalisations between 1991 and 1996 [248]. Large-scale human trials in China report that HTNV- and SEOV-inactivated vaccines produced in cell cultures induce a protective efficacy with neutralising antibodies in over 85% of the individuals enrolled in the trial [249]. However, the methods for preparation of these vaccines in rodent brains and formalin inactivation are considered unacceptable for human vaccination in most western countries. Several other approaches based on recombinant protein [250, 251], vaccinia-vectored vaccines [252, 253] and DNA plasmids [254, 255] have been tested with so far promising results.

1.9.3 Passive immunisation

The correlation that has been observed between early development of IgG antibodies and outcome of HCPS suggests an important role for antibodies in the clearance of the virus [223]. Passive immunisation has not been conducted in humans but has worked very well in several animal models. Cynomolgus macaques were protected against PUUV after being passively immunised with sera from previously infected monkeys [239] and passive transfer of immune serum (produced in rabbits by DNA vaccination) administered before and/or after intranasal challenge protected Syrian hamsters against ANDV [256].

1.10 HANTAVIRUSES AND THEIR HOSTS

Unlike viruses in all other genera within the family *Bunyaviridae*, which are transmitted by insects and other arthropods such as ticks, hantaviruses are harbored by small mammals [6, 257]. Hantaviruses are generally associated with a specific rodent or insectivore host (Table 1). The overall seropositivity among rodents in areas where hantaviruses are known to occur can be quite high, up to 9.5-11% in deer mouse [258, 259] and 15% [260] to 50% in bank voles [261, 262]. In nature, seropositivity has been shown to be higher in rodent males than females, e. g. for PUUV in bank voles [262] and for SNV in deer mice [258].

Transmission between rodents occurs through inhalation of aerosolised infected excreta in the environment, or by wounding [263, 264]. Viral spread by inhalation of aerosols demands a high capacity of keeping infectivity and being stable outside the host. PUUV can infect new bank voles up to 15 days after excretion [265] and HTNV can keep infectivity at least 96 days at 4 C under wet conditions in a laboratory setting [266].

The resemblance of the phylogenetic trees for hantaviruses and their rodent hosts, respectively, has for long been supporting the idea of co-evolution of hantaviruses with their carrier rodents and that they most probably share an ancient ancestor virus [257]. However, there are evidence suggesting that we should re-evaluate the co-divergence hypothesis and consider host switches to genetically related rodents and local adaption

as an explanation to the similarities between the phylogenies of hantaviruses and their mammalian hosts [267, 268].

1.10.1 Shedding and maintenance of infection

Shedding of virus is believed to occur asymptomatically during the whole life span of the infected host. Intramuscular HTNV infection of *Apodemus* results in shedding of infectious virus for at least one year [269]. Intramuscular PUUV infection of suckling bank voles leads to excreted infectious virus in urine for at least 130 days and infectious virus in lung for at least 270 days [270]. In experimentally infected deer mice, the heart, lung and brown adipose tissue have been shown to be important sites for the replication and maintenance of SNV during persistent infection [271].

Observations of infected animals in the laboratory and the ability to isolate virus from rodents even in the presence of high levels of antibodies in serum [269] led to an initial believe that hantaviruses are carried and shed by their natural hosts without a clinical picture. However, more recent reports suggest that this might not be entirely true. Morphologic examination of SNV-infected wild deer mice [272] indicated that infection does cause some pathology within its reservoir and there are also reports of decreased survival among SNV- and PUUV- infected wild rodents, especially during winter [273, 274].

1.10.2 Immune responses and mechanisms of persistence

Displaying a clinical picture or not, the mechanisms mediating persistence of zoonotic pathogens, such as hantaviruses, in their natural hosts remain unknown. Since HFRS/HCPS are believed to be immunomediated and rodent hosts are assumed to carry hantavirus infection persistently and without obvious symptoms, studies and comparisons of immune reactions in both species are of great importance to understand why we, but not the rodents, get ill. Understanding the pathogenesis would simplify the search for a cure. However, immune responses in natural rodent hosts have been hard to study due to the lack of specific reagents.

Today, new molecular methods can be used to simplify studies of the natural hosts. Development of quantitative real-time PCRs to detect gene expression require only partial sequencing of genes. This has been done for several immune-related genes in deer mouse [275-277]. It has been hypothesised that hantaviruses have evolved ways of escaping the host's immune reactions in their natural hosts. A mouse model where spleen cells from immunocompetent mice were transferred into HTNV-infected severe combined immunodeficient mice demonstrated a correlation between HTNV persistence and the lack of CTLs. It was suggested that the persistent hantavirus infection in rodent reservoirs is caused by escape from CD8+ T cell surveillance [278]. In line with this assumption, one key to persistence of SEOV in rats and SNV in deer mice has been suggested to be virally induced proliferation of Tregs, that might limit pathogenesis but also the viral clearance by suppression of proinflammatory and CTL responses. These results indicate that early innate immune response events evoked by hantavirus infections of natural hosts drive the development of Tregs [215, 217].

In addition to this, specific data for innate immune reactions in hantavirus rodent hosts is available from studies of sex differences between expression of innate antiviral genes in SEOV-infected rats. Using a microarray, about 200 immune-related genes were shown to be induced to higher levels in infected female compared to in infected male rats [279]. In addition, expression of IFN- β and Mx2 mRNA in the lungs were shown to be higher for females than males during infection [280]. Another observation, and in contrast to findings in HFRS and HCPS patients, was no induction in TNF- α gene expression in the spleen of persistently PUUV-infected bank voles [281] and no elevation of NO in response to SNV infection in deer mice [282]. Interestingly and corroborating with the results seen for SEOV-infected rats [279], female bank voles expressed higher levels of TNF- α than males [281]. These studies reporting differences in immune responses between females and males, might at least partly explain why male rodents tend to be more prone to get persistently infected by hantavirus infections [258, 262].

In conclusion, the information we have about immune responses against hantaviruses in their natural hosts is incomplete. Before we can elucidate why severe symptoms can occur in humans while the natural hosts survive hantavirus infections and appear asymptomatic, more immunological tools specific for the rodent hosts are needed. To perform studies of antiviral responses to bank vole-borne viruses in cells from their natural host, we have isolated embryonic cells from bank voles and developed tools for detection of IFN- β and Mx2 gene expression [paper IV].

1.11 IN VITRO CELL CULTURE SYSTEMS AND ISOLATION OF VIRUS

Due to the lack of suitable animal models and/or lack of specific immunological tools for these animal species, most studies of hantaviruses are performed in cell culture with cell culture-adapted strains. Viruses have been isolated both from human clinical samples and small mammal reservoir hosts. Generally it is much harder to isolate virus from clinical samples than from infected tissues from rodents. Starting material can be serum or whole blood from patients or serum, whole blood, saliva, urine or supernatant from suspensions of minced tissue (such as lung or kidney) from small mammal hosts. Human hantavirus isolates for example include ANDV from serum [283] and PUUV from blood leucocytes [284]. Examples of isolates from natural hosts of hantaviruses are HTNV from striped field mouse lungs [6], PUUV from lungs and spleens from bank voles [12], SEOV from lungs, spleen, feces and saliva from rats [9] and SNV from deer mouse lungs [18].

To adapt the virus to cell culture, cells to be infected are co-cultivated with the starting material and several blind passages might be needed before infectious virus can be detected in the cell culture media. If the starting material contain very little virus, an initial passage through an experimental vertebrate host (such as colonised bank voles) might be required before cell culturing to obtain a successful virus isolation. The cell line-adaption is often performed on Vero E6 cells that lack the capacity to produce IFN- α/β [285], which of course may lead to evolution of strains with phenotypes that differ from the parental wt strain. For PUUV it has been shown that adaption to cell culture can induce mutations [286], reduce the ability to infect the natural host [287]

and lead to evolution of substrains with different phenotypes [paper III]. Mutations caused by adaption to cell culture are also known for other viruses, e. g. tick borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) [288] and Ljungan virus (LV) [289-291]. Therefore, it is important to know that results observed in cell culture might not necessarily reflect infection in natural hosts or patients. Isolation and propagation of zoonotic viruses in cells from their natural hosts might be an alternative approach to avoid or at least minimise differences to the parental wt strain.

2 AIMS

The ultimate goal with this work has been to understand the immunomediated hantavirus pathogenesis better and to investigate why humans but not the rodent hosts get ill.

The specific aims have been:

- 1. To investigate hantavirus induction of and/or interference with innate antiviral responses and the mechanisms for this [paper I and II].
- 2. To study the kinetics of IFN responses evoked against PUUV in patients and HTNV in cell culture with the focus on the relatively newly discovered IFN- λ [paper I and II].
- 3. To study if different subspecies of PUUV show different characteristics compared to each other and the parental strain [paper III].
- 4. To develop an *in vitro* model and tools for studies of innate immune responses against PUUV and other bank vole borne viruses in cells from their natural host [paper IV].

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 IFN- λ RESPONSIVENESS AND INHIBITION OF IFN SIGNALLING (PAPER I)

In the first paper, we reported that serum levels of IFN- λ were significantly reduced during the acute phase of NE. Furthermore, pretreatment of cells with IFN- λ inhibited replication of HTNV *in vitro* whereas an already established infection was shown to be insensitive to any type of IFN.

IFN-α, -β and -γ have for long been known to interfere with viral replication [292], including HTNV [245]. The more recently discovered IFN- λ have also been shown to inhibit viruses [127, 128]. Previously, elevated levels of IFN- α have been detected in Ebola and Junin hemorrhagic fever patients [293-295], but only a weak increase in IFN production has been detected in hantavirus infected cells *in vitro* [172, 193, 194, 296]. Here, we investigated serum levels of IFN- α , - β , and - λ in NE patients during the acute and convalescent phases of the disease. We found no alterations of IFN- α or IFN- β levels, but IFN- λ was significantly lower during the acute phase of the disease.

When conducting this study, nothing was known about the antiviral capacity of IFN- λ against hantaviruses. Therefore, we treated cells with IFN 24 hours before or 30 hours after infection with the prototype hantavirus HTNV, and determined the effect of the treatment on production of infectious viral progeny. As previously reported, pretreatment with IFN- α , - β and - γ reduced levels of progeny virus production. The novel finding was that also IFN- λ displayed antiviral effects, with IFN- λ 1 acting as a stronger antiviral than IFN- λ 2. Combining IFN- λ with IFN- γ resulted in an additive antiviral effect. However, treatment of an established infection did not induce reduction of the viral production, indicating that HTNV inhibit the IFN signalling pathway in infected cells. Treatment of cells with the NO-inducing cytokines IFN- γ and IL-1 β resulted in less secreted NO from infected compared to noninfected control cells, confirming that HTNV could inhibit transduction of the IFN signal. Interference with the innate antiviral IFN responses had previously also been shown for ANDV, with inhibition of STAT1 and STAT2 phosphorylation as the proposed mechanism [195]. In line with this, we observed that also HTNV can inhibit STAT1 phosphorylation.

A transient decrease in amount of lymphocytes in the blood has been associated with the acute phase of a variety of diseases [297-301], and it has been suggested that systemically increased levels of type I IFNs are needed for lymphocytopenia to occur [302]. With this in mind we believe that the lack of systemic elevations of IFNs observed in this study might, at least partly, explain the rigorous expansion of lymphocytes that have been observed during hantavirus infections [56, 218, 221].

In summary, we have shown that activation of the IFN responses are inhibited in patients and that IFNs, if produced, are incapable to protect already infected cells. These results indicate that the clearance of hantaviruses is dependent on other mechanisms than IFNs, such as activated NK cells and CTLs.

3.2 IFN- α/β -INDEPENDENT INDUCTION OF IFN- λ (PAPER II)

The second paper describes, for the first time for a viral infection, the existence of differential induction pathways for type I and type III IFNs.

Since the initial discovery of the IFN- λ s in 2003 [127, 128], the initiation pathway of their production has been believed to overlap with the pathway for production of IFN- α/β [132]. Induction of the antiviral molecule MxA is regulated by IFN- α/β or - λ [303]. Just before our study began, it was shown that the organisation of the IFN- λ enhancer differs significantly from the IFN- β enhanceosome [156]. Knowing this, and that the induction of the ISG MxA in response to SNV can occur without the production of IFN- α/β [304], we postulated that hantaviruses although being poor IFN- α/β inducers [193-196] might activate the production of IFN- λ .

As a response to HTNV infection of A549 cells, we observed a strong induction of IFN- λ transcription that occurred before induction of MxA and IFN- β . Furthermore, IFN- λ 1 and MxA gene expression were induced by HTNV in the complete absence of IFN- α/β responses in Vero E6 cells, and pre-treatment of these cells with IFN- λ 1 had an inhibitory effect on HTNV progeny virus production. However, when analysing cell culture media from infected A549, no IFN protein could be detected with ELISA. We assumed that a possible explanation for this could be that secreted IFNs directly bind to their respective receptors on the surface of the cells, thereby rendering supernatants with undetectable levels of IFN. To enable measurable amounts of IFN- λ , we instead infected MRC-5 fibroblast cells, which lack the receptor for IFN- λ [166]. Using this approach we found detectable secreted IFN- λ 1 as a response to HTNV. Analysis of the gene expressions for IFN- α , - β , - λ 1, - λ 2 and MxA in MRC-5 showed an upregulation of MxA that coincided in time with induction of IFN- β .

When we stimulated cells with poly-I:C (a known stimulator of MDA5 and TLR3), we observed inhibited induction of both IFN- β and - λ 1 gene expression in infected cells compared to in noninfected cells. Our results suggest that HTNV can block MDA5/TLR3-activated signalling pathways that induce both type I and III IFNs and that the observed type I IFN-independent IFN- λ 1 induction is not caused by a specific inhibition of type I IFN. Instead, our results indicate that there might be ways of induction that are specific for IFN- λ . UV-inactivated virus did not induce any IFNs, which indicates that only replicating HTNV can be recognised by the cells to activate IFN- λ specifically.

Next, we wanted to investigate if the cellular antiviral responses evoked by HTNV were dependent on multiplicity of infection (MOI). Many studies are performed with high doses of virus, and one could speculate if this really reflects a natural infection. Interestingly, we found that in Vero E6 cells, a MOI of 0.04 resulted in higher viral titers in the cell culture medium from 7 days post infection and onwards, compared to a MOI of 40. This goes well with the observation that when growing viral stocks in Vero E6, a low initial dose of virus is preferable to harvest stocks with high viral titer (our unpublished observation). Furthermore, we observed that the higher dose induced expression of the antiviral genes MxA and IFN- λ 1 at an earlier time point than what

was observed for the lower dose. This indicates that a high initial dose of virus is recognised directly, inducing a strong antiviral response that inhibit replication. It would not be surprising if the scenario in human patients resemble more of what we see when we use a lower dose of virus *in vitro*.

In addition to direct induction of antiviral molecules, IFN- λ may enhance adaptive immunity, suppress Th2 responses, reduce Treg populations and increase antigen-specific cytolytic degranulation by CTLs [159, 305, 306]. These immunomodulatory effects of IFN- λ are strikingly similar to the strong adaptive immune responses that can be observed in HFRS/HCPS patients. It would be interesting to increase the knowledge about the potential role of IFN- λ during pathogenesis and/or its role in protection against viral infections.

3.3 CHARACTERISATION OF DIFFERENT SUBSTRAINS OF PUUV (PAPER III)

In paper III, we analysed the genotype and phenotype of two different substrains of PUUV, and compared their characteristics to the parental strain.

Hantaviruses are ssRNA viruses, with an estimated mutation rate similar to other RNA viruses [307]. When growing and titrating a stock of PUUV (strain Kazan), we noted differences in foci size. This led us to the conclusion that the stock might contain a mixture of different phenotypes. We isolated two substrains from the original parental strain (PUUV-Pa); one with large (PUUV-La) and one with small (PUUV-Sm) focus size, and performed sequence analysis on the genetic material. For both substrains, we found amino acid substitutions in the S and L segments, while the M segment was unaltered compared to in the parental strain. Surprisingly, the mutations were found in well conserved regions of the S and L in residues that also are highly conserved among hantavirus species. The identical M segments indicate that a reassortment between PUUV-La and PUUV-Sm may have occurred (that one of these substrains has picked up the other's M segment) or that this M segment is so well conserved that it represents the only M-segment present in PUUV-Pa.

For PUUV-Sm, we found the amino acid substitutions D35Y in the S segment and L611F in the L segment. Interestingly, the monoclonal antibody 1C12 was unable to detect the D35Y mutant form of N. 1C12 recognises the N-terminal region of PUUV N [308]. Using this antibody, we indirectly could estimate that up to 9% of PUUV-Pa contained PUUV-Sm.

For PUUV-La, we observed the amino acid substitutions D27E in the S segment and P702S in the L segment. Furthermore, a large region consisting of 43 nucleotides was missing in the 5' untranslated region of the S segment. *In silico* predictions of the secondary structure revealed a hairpin loop in this region present in hantaviruses that are carried by *Arvicolinae* rodents (such as KHAV, PHV, PUUV, TOPV, TULV) while this region is missing in hantaviruses with *Murinae* rodents (e. g. DOBV, HTNV and SEOV) or *Sigmodontinae* rodents (e. g. ANDV and SNV) as natural hosts. It is interesting that this region is well conserved among *Arvicolinae*-borne hantaviruses,

albeit not being crucial for hantaviruses in general and that the PUUV-La substrain can replicate without it.

The secondary structure for the first N-terminal 70 amino acids of the N has been solved. In this model, the N-terminal of the protein forms two α -helixes separated by a loop in a helix-loop-helix structure [309-311]. Applying this knowledge on PUUV, D27 would be located in α -helix 1 and D35 on the tip of the loop formed between α -helix 1 and α -helix 2. The D35 residue has been indicated to be involved in N interaction and dimerisation [310], indicating an important role for this amino acid.

In Vero E6, infection with PUUV-La produced higher amounts of infectious viral progeny than PUUV-Pa, and PUUV-Pa produced more infectious progeny than PUUV-Sm. PUUV-La had the lowest ratio of vRNA to infectious virus particles, suggesting that a possible explanation for more efficient replication of PUUV-La is that PUUV-Sm and PUUV-Pa contain more defective particles per infectious virus than PUUV-La.

Vero E6 cannot produce IFN- α or IFN- β due to a chromosomal deletion [285]. In order to analyse the effectiveness of the replication for the different substrains in an IFNcompetent cell line, MRC-5 fibroblasts were used. PUUV-Pa produced less viral progeny than PUUV-La and PUUV-Sm. PUUV-La and PUUV-Sm replicated to the same level and showed no difference in production of infectious virus despite the difference observed in Vero E6. We analysed the induction of gene expression for IFN- β , and the ISGs ISG56 and MxA. Generally, PUUV-Pa induced higher expression levels that might explain the inability to replicate as efficient as PUUV-La and PUUV-Sm in these cells. Knowing that PUUV-Pa most probably is constituted of a large amount of different substrains (including PUUV-La and PUUV-Sm), it is not so surprising that some of these induce cellular innate immunity.

Altogether our results from paper III show that mutations accumulate during virus propagation which can affect the overall phenotype. This is important to consider before drawing conclusions from *in vitro* experiments where cell culture-adapted viruses have been used.

3.4 IN VITRO STUDIES OF BANK VOLE BORNE VIRUSES (PAPER IV)

Paper IV describes a method for studies of bank vole borne viruses and cellular innate immune activation in bank vole cells *in vitro*.

Bank voles are the asymptomatic natural hosts of a variety of viruses including cow pox virus (CPXV), LV, PUUV and TBEV. In humans, PUUV and TBEV infections might be quite severe and are associated with NE and encephalitis, respectively, while CPXV causes milder symptoms and is associated with skin lesions [56, 312, 313]. Due to the lack of specific reagents it has been difficult to study if PUUV and other bank vole borne viruses interfere with bank vole cell functions. Therefore it is largely unknown why rodent hosts can carry viruses asymptomatically, while humans get ill. We wanted to establish an *in vitro* model to enable studies of bank vole borne viruses, including PUUV, in cells from their natural host. Thereby, we isolated vole embryonic fibroblasts (VEFs) from colonised bank voles. We showed that the VEFs were susceptible to PUUV, including a wt variant previously only passaged in bank voles. In addition to PUUV, the VEFs were susceptible to CPXV, LV and TBEV. CPXV and LV caused lytic infections while PUUV and TBEV showed no signs of cytopathogenicity.

That wt PUUV could infect VEFs is promising for future studies using the wt virus. As far as we know, wt PUUV has never been studied in cell culture before. Using the wt virus would be preferable since cell line-adapted variants most probably contain mutations [paper III]. It is likely that VEFs and cell lines isolated from other natural hosts that harbour zoonotic viruses could be used for isolations and propagations of wt viruses.

To confirm functional antiviral response pathways, VEFs were transfected with poly(I:C), followed by an IFN bioassay on cell culture medium from the transfected cells [314]. IFNs were indeed present, and we also confirmed this by the observation that addition of this medium to new VEFs induced STAT1 phosphorylation and NO production. We sequenced parts of the antiviral genes IFN- β and Mx2, followed by development of real-time PCR protocols. In order to investigate gene expression in response to infection, we infected VEFs with CPXV, LV, PUUV and TBEV and collected samples at different time points after the infection.

CPXV and LV induced IFN- β but not Mx2 at 12 hours post infection (hpi) and onwards, suggesting that these viruses activate IFN- β but inhibit induction of the antiviral state in VEFs. The clear presence of cytopathogenesis at 48 hpi coincided with a dramatic increase in CPXV progeny production. For LV, lysis of cells did not induce an increase in viral titers, indicating a less efficient replication than for CPXV.

PUUV did neither induce IFN- β nor MxA gene expression, and viral titers in supernatants increased over time. In paper III, we observed that PUUV infection of human fibroblasts induced both IFN- β and MxA with less production of viral progeny in response to increased antiviral activity. In combination, our results suggest that some of the immune responses that are evoked in humans might be inhibited in rodent reservoirs.

TBEV induced IFN- β with subsequent induction of Mx2 and the amount of viral progeny did not change over time. This indicates that TBEV infections of VEFs are controlled by the cellular innate immune responses, albeit not to a level where production of new virus is inhibited completely.

In conclusion, we have established a functional *in vitro* model and developed the first tools for studies of bank vole innate immune reactions in response to viral infections. Using this model, it will hopefully be possible to better understand how zoonotic viruses interfere with host cell signalling pathways and how they affect induction of innate immune responses.

4 CONCLUDING REMARKS

Hantaviruses are zoonotic viruses that can be found in most parts of the world. They cause severe symptoms, often with haemorrhagic manifestations and high death rates, with a possible important involvement of the immune reactions against the virus in the pathogenesis. The innate immune system is involved in the early defense against virus infections. One early response is IFNs that are produced by infected cells to defend themselves and surrounding cells. The IFNs are also involved in the shaping of adaptive immune responses against the infection. In summary, several valuable conclusions can be drawn from my thesis.

The results from paper I include the findings of low levels of IFNs in serum of hantavirus-infected patients and that already infected cells can counteract the antiviral effects of all types of IFN. These observations alone indicate that induction of the antiviral state might be absent or inhibited in hantavirus-infected patients. However, in paper II increased transcription of IFN- λ and Mx2 were observed in infected cell cultures in the complete absence of IFN- α/β . This was a novel finding, being the first report of differential induction pathways for type I and III IFN in response to a viral infection. Despite a large increase in transcription, secreted IFN- λ protein could only be detected in cell culture medium from cells without the IFN- λ receptor. This might indicate that IFN- λ , if produced in patients, would be consumed too fast to be detected in serum and that the effects of produced IFN- λ is localised near the site of secretion. However, as the results from paper I describe, already infected cells are protected from the direct antiviral effects. Endothelial cells are the prime targets of hantaviruses [52]. They increase the transcription of IFN- λ in response to hantavirus infection (our unpublished results) and lack the receptor for IFN- λ [161]. Knowing this, one could speculate that infected endothelial cells in patients produce IFN- λ , but that other cells expressing the receptor bind the secreted protein, e. g. immune cells such as pDCs and T cells [159, 160]. IFN- λ has previously been associated with reduced Treg populations and increased CTL-mediated killing [306, 315], IL-12-secretion from DCs [181] and increased NK cell activity [162]. To conclude the results from paper I and II, it seems likely that IFN- λ has a role in hantavirus pathogenesis (Figure 4).

The major conclusion from paper III is that laboratorial viral stocks may contain a mixture of different substrains with different characteristics, and that we should be well aware of this when performing infectious experiments *in vitro*. The use of wt viruses would be preferable, but unfortunately stocks with high virus concentration have previously only been obtained after cell culture adaptation. We hope that our *in vitro* model, that we present in paper IV, could be useful when isolating and propagating wt viruses in the future. The results from paper IV also indicate that there are differences in innate responses to hantavirus infections between humans and rodent hosts, even on a cellular level. Further experiments are needed, and it would e. g. be interesting to investigate hantavirus infections of bank vole cells with an endothelial cell origin.



Figure 4. Hantavirus-induced IFN- λ and its possible role in increased vascular permeability. Hantavirus-infected endothelial cells secrete IFN- λ that act on CD8+ T cells, DCs and activated NK cells. T cells differentiate into IFN- γ producing CTLs, DCs secrete IL-12 that stimulates Th1 and NK cells to produce IFN- γ . IFN- γ stimulates DCs, but also macrophages to produce more IL-12 in a positive feedback loop. IFN- γ -stimulation of macrophages induce production of NO and TNF- α . Infected endothelial cells do also produce VEGF. IFN- λ does not induce Tregs. MØ, macrophage.

5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Jag vill tacka:

Jonas Klingström, min huvudhandledare för att du alltid haft tid och delat med dig av din kunskap och entusiasm och aldrig någonsin svikit mig, tack för att du övertalade mig att börja doktorera och tack för allt stöd när det gäller allt. Å**ke Lundkvist**, min bihandledare i Stockholm för att jag över huvud taget kunde fortsätta på SMI efter de där första två månaderna. Jag röstar för fler hantamöten på din båt! **Clas Ahlm**, min bihandledare i Umeå för allt uppmuntran, stöd, nya idéer och positivism. Jag har verkligen känt mig privilegierad under denna tid, stort tack till er alla tre!

Alla **medförfattare** och **norrländska patienter**, utan er hade det inte blivit någon avhandling.

Johan Struwe, Gunnar Sandström, och Lars Engstrand, avdelningscheferna genom åren som låtit mig bedriva forskning på SMI.

Karin och Shawon, vår grupp skulle helt enkelt inte vara lika bra utan er. Karin, du är en duracell-bunny utan dess like men otroligt härlig att umgås med, bara vi slipper sova i samma bäddsoffa. Shawon, vi har känt varandra länge och det är jag jätteglad för. Stort tack till er båda. Nästa Japantur följer jag med!

Carina, för all glädje och tårar, roliga upptåg, vänskap, luncher, afterworks, dans och hjälp att styra upp min pipetteringsteknik, hur skulle jag klarat mig utan dig?! **Salma**, **Charlotte**, **Helena**, **Lina**, **Melissa**, för alla gapskratt, vattenpipeaftnar, Lisebergs- och Grönanbesök, målerikvällar, luncher och annat trevligt både på och utanför jobbet. Ni har verkligen förgyllt min vardag!

Anne-Marie, du har varit med från början till slut. Tack för all hjälp både när det gäller det vetenskapliga och det privata. Helt otroligt hur mycket vi har utvecklats under de här åren! Jag önskar dig all lycka däruppe i Umé. Cecilia, Sofie och Jolle, för er generositet, härliga humor och alla fikor, luncher, och andra tillfällen till att prata och skratta ihop. Nina, för alla bra tips på formuleringarna i avhandlingen och den härliga stämning du sprider. Henrik och Kirill, för goda råd när det gäller sekvensering och annan molekylärbiologi. Monica, för all hjälp med det administrativa och att du verkligen bryr dig om alla. Caroline och Anna, för alla pratstunder på kontoret.

Andreas B och Andreas M, för trevligt lunchsällskap, resor och galna fester. David, för alla trevliga luncher. Jonas H, för hjälp på P3, pubar och ölnörderi. Malin, för labbhjälp och råd när det gäller det mesta. Sirkka, för alla visdomsord på och utanför P3, hjälp med språkgranskningar och trevligt sällskap på konferenser. SMI vore inte samma sak utan dig!

Ali, för att vi fått vara en del av sektionen, vetenskaplig input och trevliga ölkvällar både i Sverige och utomlands. Melinda, Helen, Ida, Gunnel och Sara för all hjälp på P2-labbet och gapskratt i fikarummet. Även ett stort tack till Melinda som med varm hand lämnade över MTC student association till mig. **Annette** and **Vithia**, for your positive attitude and sense of humor, and for appreciated company at conference trips.

Tara, **Talar**, för den härliga stämning ni sprider och alla andra glada lunchkompisar i virushuset genom åren. **Alla andra på KCB och BE-H** för fikor, andra gemensamma aktiviteter och pratstunder i korridoren.

Utanför jobbet finns det också några som jag vill tacka särskilt:

Karin o Linda, för vänskap och tjejmiddagar, särskilt tack till Linda som hjälpte mig att komma in på forskarskolan, vilket ledde till att jag hamnade på SMI. Henrik J, utan dig hade jag inte varit där jag är idag. Tack! Micke Lindh, för MoleQul-tiden, fikor, tech noir-kvällar, roliga fester och andra välkomna avbrott i vardagslivet samt mer allvarliga diskussioner om det mesta. Fanny "min syster" och Tobias, för vänskap och underbara semestrar, god öl, nyårsfiranden och galna Tech noirkvällar långt borta från forskningen. Louice, Patrik, Adam, Isabell, för att ni är bland de snällaste människor jag känner, för att ni alltid finns där och att det alltid känns som att vi sågs igår även om det var länge sen vi hördes. Varför bor ni så långt borta?

sitzenbleiben, som började med "två kvinnor och en tjej" och utvecklades till ett sexmannaband som förändrade mitt liv. Anders, André, Fanny, Linus, Micke (som sen blev Pelle). Drop the beer and bring in the sheep och 24h stimulation!

Grannarna **Maria**, **Johan**, **Tess**, **Sofie**, **Fredrik**, **Filip**, **Emilia**, härligt att vara föräldraledig och bo i Ursvik när ni finns, skulle inte vara samma sak utan er!

Kusin **Tessan**, **Micke**, **Amanda**, **Filippa**, min släkt här nere i Stockholm. Tessan, du är bäst på att ge goda råd och uppmuntran och dessutom är du en feeder!

Pontus och **Katarina**, för trevliga grillkvällar, middagar, och annat Ursviksliv. Tack Pontus för övertalning att flytta och att vi fick bo hos dig när vårt hus byggdes! Tack för fotografering! Och tack för vinet! **Göran**, **Maggi**, **Tove**, **Erik**, för kvalitetsfritid i Alperna, Smögen, Kvicksund och Göteborg, för god mat, barnpassning, altanbyggen, nyårsaftnar, att ni lärt mig hålla i ett vinglas på rätt sätt och allt annat vi gjort tillsammans. Tack!

Min älskade familj uppe i norr: Min bror **Tobbe**, **Johanna**, **Nisse** och den mest fotograferade gäddan någonsin, saknar det mysiga livet däruppe varje gång jag träffat er. **Mamma** och **pappa**, för att ni lät mig vara precis som jag är och för all kärlek. Ni har alltid stöttat mig vad jag än tagit mig för, jag skulle inte vara där jag är idag utan er – tack!

Sist men inte minst: Linus för att ha delat med dig av ditt positiva sätt att vara, för att du alltid stöttar mig, och för att du är BÄST. Elliot, vad vore livet utan Elliot? Jag älskar er båda av hela mitt hjärta!

6 REFERENCES

[1] Johnson, K. M. Hantaviruses: history and overview. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 2562001), 1-14.

[2] Maher, J. F. Trench nephritis: a retrospective perception. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 7, 5 (May 1986), 355-362.

[3] Myhrman, G. En njursjukdom med egenartad symptombild. *Nord Med Tidsk*, 71934), 793-794.

[4] Zetterholm, S. Akuta nefriter stimulerande akuta bukfall. *Läkartidningen*, 311934), 425-429.

[5] Myhrman, G. Nephropathia epidemica a new infectious disease in northern Scandinavia. *Acta Med Scand*, 140, 1 (Jul 7 1951), 52-56.

[6] Lee, H. W., Lee, P. W. and Johnson, K. M. Isolation of the etiologic agent of Korean Hemorrhagic fever. *J Infect Dis*, 137, 3 (Mar 1978), 298-308.

[7] French, G. R., Foulke, R. S., Brand, O. A., Eddy, G. A., Lee, H. W. and Lee, P. W. Korean hemorrhagic fever: propagation of the etiologic agent in a cell line of human origin. *Science*, 211, 4486 (Mar 6 1981), 1046-1048.

[8] McCormick, J. B., Sasso, D. R., Palmer, E. L. and Kiley, M. P. Morphological identification of the agent of Korean haemorrhagic fever (Hantaan virus) as a member of the Bunyaviridae. *Lancet*, 1, 8275 (Apr 3 1982), 765-768.

[9] Lee, H. W., Baek, L. J. and Johnson, K. M. Isolation of Hantaan virus, the etiologic agent of Korean hemorrhagic fever, from wild urban rats. *J Infect Dis*, 146, 5 (Nov 1982), 638-644.

[10] Lee, P. W., Amyx, H. L., Gajdusek, D. C., Yanagihara, R. T., Goldgaber, D. and Gibbs, C. J., Jr. New hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome-related virus in rodents in the United States. *Lancet*, 2, 8312 (Dec 18 1982), 1405.

[11] Lee, P. W., Amyx, H. L., Yanagihara, R., Gajdusek, D. C., Goldgaber, D. and Gibbs, C. J., Jr. Partial characterization of Prospect Hill virus isolated from meadow voles in the United States. *J Infect Dis*, 152, 4 (Oct 1985), 826-829.

[12] Brummer-Korvenkontio, M., Vaheri, A., Hovi, T., von Bonsdorff, C. H., Vuorimies, J., Manni, T., Penttinen, K., Oker-Blom, N. and Lahdevirta, J.

Nephropathia epidemica: detection of antigen in bank voles and serologic diagnosis of human infection. *J Infect Dis*, 141, 2 (Feb 1980), 131-134.

[13] Brummer-Korvenkontio, M., Henttonen, H. and Vaheri, A. Hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome in Finland: ecology and virology of nephropathia epidemica. *Scand J Infect Dis Suppl*, 361982), 88-91.

[14] Avsic-Zupanc, T., Xiao, S. Y., Stojanovic, R., Gligic, A., van der Groen, G. and LeDuc, J. W. Characterization of Dobrava virus: a Hantavirus from Slovenia, Yugoslavia. *J Med Virol*, 38, 2 (Oct 1992), 132-137.

[15] Antoniadis, A., Stylianakis, A., Papa, A., Alexiou-Daniel, S., Lampropoulos, A., Nichol, S. T., Peters, C. J. and Spiropoulou, C. F. Direct genetic detection of Dobrava virus in Greek and Albanian patients with hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. *J Infect Dis*, 174, 2 (Aug 1996), 407-410.

[16] Lundkvist, A., Hukic, M., Horling, J., Gilljam, M., Nichol, S. and Niklasson, B. Puumala and Dobrava viruses cause hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome in Bosnia-Herzegovina: evidence of highly cross-neutralizing antibody responses in early patient sera. *J Med Virol*, 53, 1 (Sep 1997), 51-59.

[17] Nichol, S. T., Spiropoulou, C. F., Morzunov, S., Rollin, P. E., Ksiazek, T. G., Feldmann, H., Sanchez, A., Childs, J., Zaki, S. and Peters, C. J. Genetic identification of a hantavirus associated with an outbreak of acute respiratory illness. *Science*, 262, 5135 (Nov 5 1993), 914-917.

[18] Elliott, L. H., Ksiazek, T. G., Rollin, P. E., Spiropoulou, C. F., Morzunov, S., Monroe, M., Goldsmith, C. S., Humphrey, C. D., Zaki, S. R., Krebs, J. W. and et al. Isolation of the causative agent of hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 51, 1 (Jul 1994), 102-108.

[19] Lopez, N., Padula, P., Rossi, C., Lazaro, M. E. and Franze-Fernandez, M. T. Genetic identification of a new hantavirus causing severe pulmonary syndrome in Argentina. *Virology*, 220, 1 (Jun 1 1996), 223-226.

[20] Carey, D. E., Reuben, R., Panicker, K. N., Shope, R. E. and Myers, R. M. Thottapalayam virus: a presumptive arbovirus isolated from a shrew in India. *Indian J Med Res*, 59, 11 (Nov 1971), 1758-1760.

[21] Arai, S., Ohdachi, S. D., Asakawa, M., Kang, H. J., Mocz, G., Arikawa, J., Okabe, N. and Yanagihara, R. Molecular phylogeny of a newfound hantavirus in the Japanese shrew mole (Urotrichus talpoides). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 105, 42 (Oct 21 2008), 16296-16301.

[22] Klempa, B., Fichet-Calvet, E., Lecompte, E., Auste, B., Aniskin, V., Meisel, H., Denys, C., Koivogui, L., ter Meulen, J. and Kruger, D. H. Hantavirus in African wood mouse, Guinea. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 12, 5 (May 2006), 838-840.

[23] Song, J. W., Kang, H. J., Song, K. J., Truong, T. T., Bennett, S. N., Arai, S., Truong, N. U. and Yanagihara, R. Newfound hantavirus in Chinese mole shrew, Vietnam. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 13, 11 (Nov 2007), 1784-1787.

[24] Schmaljohn, C. and Hjelle, B. Hantaviruses: a global disease problem. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 3, 2 (Apr-Jun 1997), 95-104.

[25] Jonsson, C. B., Figueiredo, L. T. and Vapalahti, O. A global perspective on hantavirus ecology, epidemiology, and disease. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 23, 2 (Apr 2010), 412-441.

[26] Hjertqvist, M., Klein, S. L., Ahlm, C. and Klingstrom, J. Mortality rate patterns for hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome caused by Puumala virus. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 16, 10 (Oct 2010), 1584-1586.

[27] Linderholm, M., Billstrom, A., Settergren, B. and Tarnvik, A. Pulmonary involvement in nephropathia epidemica as demonstrated by computed tomography. *Infection*, 20, 5 (Sep-Oct 1992), 263-266.

[28] Rasmuson, J., Andersson, C., Norrman, E., Haney, M., Evander, M. and Ahlm, C. Time to revise the paradigm of hantavirus syndromes? Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome caused by European hantavirus. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis*, 30, 5 (May 2011), 685-690.

[29] Kanerva, M., Paakkala, A., Mustonen, J., Paakkala, T., Lahtela, J. and Pasternack, A. Pulmonary involvement in nephropathia epidemica: radiological findings and their clinical correlations. *Clin Nephrol*, 46, 6 (Dec 1996), 369-378.

[30] Passaro, D. J., Shieh, W. J., Hacker, J. K., Fritz, C. L., Hogan, S. R., Fischer, M., Hendry, R. M. and Vugia, D. J. Predominant kidney involvement in a fatal case of hantavirus pulmonary syndrome caused by Sin Nombre virus. *Clin Infect Dis*, 33, 2 (Jul 15 2001), 263-264.

[31] Pergam, S. A., Schmidt, D. W., Nofchissey, R. A., Hunt, W. C., Harford, A. H. and Goade, D. E. Potential renal sequelae in survivors of hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 80, 2 (Feb 2009), 279-285.

[32] Ahlm, C., Juto, P., Stegmayr, B., Settergren, B., Wadell, G., Tarnvik, A. and Elgh, F. Prevalence of serum antibodies to hantaviruses in northern Sweden as measured by recombinant nucleocapsid proteins. *Scand J Infect Dis*, 29, 4 1997), 349-354.

[33] Lee, H. W. and Johnson, K. M. Laboratory-acquired infections with Hantaan virus, the etiologic agent of Korean hemorrhagic fever. *J Infect Dis*, 146, 5 (Nov 1982), 645-651.

[34] Vapalahti, K., Paunio, M., Brummer-Korvenkontio, M., Vaheri, A. and Vapalahti, O. Puumala virus infections in Finland: increased occupational risk for farmers. *Am J Epidemiol*, 149, 12 (Jun 15 1999), 1142-1151.

[35] Ahlm, C., Thelin, A., Elgh, F., Juto, P., Stiernstrom, E. L., Holmberg, S. and Tarnvik, A. Prevalence of antibodies specific to Puumala virus among farmers in Sweden. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 24, 2 (Apr 1998), 104-108.

[36] Sibold, C., Meisel, H., Lundkvist, A., Schulz, A., Cifire, F., Ulrich, R., Kozuch, O., Labuda, M. and Kruger, D. H. Short report: simultaneous occurrence of Dobrava, Puumala, and Tula Hantaviruses in Slovakia. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 61, 3 (Sep 1999), 409-411.

[37] Olsson, G. E., Dalerum, F., Hornfeldt, B., Elgh, F., Palo, T. R., Juto, P. and Ahlm, C. Human hantavirus infections, Sweden. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 9, 11 (Nov 2003), 1395-1401.

[38] Enria, D., Padula, P., Segura, E. L., Pini, N., Edelstein, A., Posse, C. R. and Weissenbacher, M. C. Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome in Argentina. Possibility of person to person transmission. *Medicina (B Aires)*, 56, 6 1996), 709-711.

[39] Ferres, M., Vial, P., Marco, C., Yanez, L., Godoy, P., Castillo, C., Hjelle, B., Delgado, I., Lee, S. J. and Mertz, G. J. Prospective evaluation of household contacts of persons with hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome in chile. *J Infect Dis*, 195, 11 (Jun 1 2007), 1563-1571.

[40] Martinez, V. P., Bellomo, C., San Juan, J., Pinna, D., Forlenza, R., Elder, M. and Padula, P. J. Person-to-person transmission of Andes virus. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 11, 12 (Dec 2005), 1848-1853.

[41] Sinisalo, M., Vapalahti, O., Ekblom-Kullberg, S., Laine, O., Makela, S., Rintala, H. and Vaheri, A. Headache and low platelets in a patient with acute leukemia. *J Clin Virol*, 48, 3 (Jul 2010), 159-161.

[42] Kawamata, J., Yamanouchi, T., Dohmae, K., Miyamoto, H., Takahaski, M., Yamanishi, K., Kurata, T. and Lee, H. W. Control of laboratory acquired hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (HFRS) in Japan. *Lab Anim Sci*, 37, 4 (Aug 1987), 431-436.
[43] Desmyter, J., LeDuc, J. W., Johnson, K. M., Brasseur, F., Deckers, C. and van Ypersele de Strihou, C. Laboratory rat associated outbreak of haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome due to Hantaan-like virus in Belgium. *Lancet*, 2, 8365-66 (Dec 24-31 1983), 1445-1448.

[44] Laboratory management of agents associated with hantavirus pulmonary syndrome: interim biosafety guidelines. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *MMWR Recomm Rep*, 43, RR-7 (May 13 1994), 1-7.

[45] Malecki, T. M., Jillson, G. P., Thilsted, J. P., Elrod, J., Torrez-Martinez, N. and Hjelle, B. Serologic survey for hantavirus infection in domestic animals and coyotes from New Mexico and northeastern Arizona. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 212, 7 (Apr 1 1998), 970-973.

[46] Mertens, M., Essbauer, S. S., Rang, A., Schroder, J., Splettstoesser, W. D., Kretzschmar, C., Kruger, D. H., Groschup, M. H., Matz-Rensing, K. and Ulrich, R. G. Non-human primates in outdoor enclosures: risk for infection with rodent-borne hantaviruses. *Vet Microbiol*, 147, 3-4 (Jan 27 2011), 420-425.

[47] Danes, L., Pejcoch, M., Bukovjan, K., Veleba, J. and Halackova, M. [Antibodies against Hantaviruses in game and domestic oxen in the Czech Republic]. *Cesk Epidemiol Mikrobiol Imunol*, 41, 1 (Apr 1992), 15-18.

[48] Ahlm, C., Wallin, K., Lundkvist, A., Elgh, F., Juto, P., Merza, M. and Tarnvik, A. Serologic evidence of Puumala virus infection in wild moose in northern Sweden. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 62, 1 (Jan 2000), 106-111.

[49] Slonova, R. A., Tkachenko, E. A., Kushnarev, E. L., Dzagurova, T. K. and Astakova, T. I. Hantavirus isolation from birds. *Acta Virol*, 36, 5 (Oct 1992), 493.

[50] Kim, G. R., Lee, Y. T. and Park, C. H. A new natural reservoir of hantavirus: isolation of hantaviruses from lung tissues of bats. *Arch Virol*, 134, 1-2 1994), 85-95.[51] Weber, F. and Elliott, R. M. Antigenic drift, antigenic shift and interferon

antagonists: how bunyaviruses counteract the immune system. *Virus Res*, 88, 1-2 (Sep 2002), 129-136.

[52] Kanerva, M., Mustonen, J. and Vaheri, A. Pathogenesis of puumala and other hantavirus infections. *Rev Med Virol*, 8, 2 (Apr 1998), 67-86.

[53] Gajdusek, D. C. Virus hemorrhagic fevers. Special reference to hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (epidemic hemorrhagic fever). *J Pediatr*, 60(Jun 1962), 841-857. [54] Kramski, M., Achazi, K., Klempa, B. and Kruger, D. H. Nephropathia epidemica with a 6-week incubation period after occupational exposure to Puumala hantavirus. *J Clin Virol*, 44, 1 (Jan 2009), 99-101.

[55] Lee, J. S. *Clinical Manifestations and Treatment of HFRS and HPS*. WHO Collaborating Center for Virus Reference and Research, City, 1998.

[56] Vapalahti, O., Mustonen, J., Lundkvist, A., Henttonen, H., Plyusnin, A. and Vaheri, A. Hantavirus infections in Europe. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 3, 10 (Oct 2003), 653-661.

[57] MacNeil, A., Ksiazek, T. G. and Rollin, P. E. Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome, United States, 1993-2009. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17, 7 (Jul 2011), 1195-1201.

[58] Zaki, S. R., Greer, P. W., Coffield, L. M., Goldsmith, C. S., Nolte, K. B., Foucar, K., Feddersen, R. M., Zumwalt, R. E., Miller, G. L., Khan, A. S. and et al. Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. Pathogenesis of an emerging infectious disease. *Am J Pathol*, 146, 3 (Mar 1995), 552-579.

[59] Young, J. C., Hansen, G. R., Graves, T. K., Deasy, M. P., Humphreys, J. G., Fritz, C. L., Gorham, K. L., Khan, A. S., Ksiazek, T. G., Metzger, K. B. and Peters, C. J. The incubation period of hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 62, 6 (Jun 2000), 714-717.

[60] Peters, C. J. and Khan, A. S. Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome: the new American hemorrhagic fever. *Clin Infect Dis*, 34, 9 (May 1 2002), 1224-1231.

[61] Gracia, F., Armien, B., Simpson, S. Q., Munoz, C., Broce, C., Pascale, J. M. and Koster, F. Convalescent pulmonary dysfunction following hantavirus pulmonary syndrome in Panama and the United States. *Lung*, 188, 5 (Oct 2010), 387-391.

[62] White, J. D., Shirey, F. G., French, G. R., Huggins, J. W., Brand, O. M. and Lee,

H. W. Hantaan virus, aetiological agent of Korean haemorrhagic fever, has

Bunyaviridae-like morphology. Lancet, 1, 8275 (Apr 3 1982), 768-771.

[63] Schmaljohn, C. S. and Dalrymple, J. M. Analysis of Hantaan virus RNA: evidence for a new genus of bunyaviridae. *Virology*, 131, 2 (Dec 1983), 482-491.

[64] Schmaljohn, C. S., Hasty, S. E., Harrison, S. A. and Dalrymple, J. M.

Characterization of Hantaan virions, the prototype virus of hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. *J Infect Dis*, 148, 6 (Dec 1983), 1005-1012.

[65] Elliott, L. H., Kiley, M. P. and McCormick, J. B. Hantaan virus: identification of virion proteins. *J Gen Virol*, 65 (Pt 8)(Aug 1984), 1285-1293.

[66] Hung, T., Xia, S. M., Song, G., Liao, H. X., Chao, T. X., Chou, Z. Y. and Hang, C. S. Viruses of classical and mild forms of haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome isolated in China have similar bunyavirus-like morphology. *Lancet*, 1, 8324 (Mar 12 1983), 589-591.

[67] Schmaljohn, C. S., Hasty, S. E., Dalrymple, J. M., LeDuc, J. W., Lee, H. W., von Bonsdorff, C. H., Brummer-Korvenkontio, M., Vaheri, A., Tsai, T. F., Regnery, H. L. and et al. Antigenic and genetic properties of viruses linked to hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. *Science*, 227, 4690 (Mar 1 1985), 1041-1044.

[68] Hung, T., Chou, Z. Y., Zhao, T. X., Xia, S. M. and Hang, C. S. Morphology and morphogenesis of viruses of hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (HFRS). I. Some

peculiar aspects of the morphogenesis of various strains of HFRS virus. *Intervirology*, 23, 2 1985), 97-108.

[69] Hewlett, M. J., Pettersson, R. F. and Baltimore, D. Circular forms of Uukuniemi virion RNA: an electron microscopic study. *J Virol*, 21, 3 (Mar 1977), 1085-1093.
[70] Schmaljohn, C. S., Jennings, G. B., Hay, J. and Dalrymple, J. M. Coding strategy of the S genome segment of Hantaan virus. *Virology*, 155, 2 (Dec 1986), 633-643.
[71] Jaaskelainen, K. M., Kaukinen, P., Minskaya, E. S., Plyusnina, A., Vapalahti, O., Elliott, R. M., Weber, F., Vaheri, A. and Plyusnin, A. Tula and Puumala hantavirus NSs ORFs are functional and the products inhibit activation of the interferon-beta promoter. *J Med Virol*, 79, 10 (Oct 2007), 1527-1536.

[72] Klingstrom, J. and Ahlm, C. Hantavirus protein interactions regulate cellular functions and signaling responses. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther*, 9, 1 (Jan 2011), 33-47.
[73] Jonsson, C. B. and Schmaljohn, C. S. Replication of hantaviruses. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 2562001), 15-32.

[74] Pensiero, M. N., Sharefkin, J. B., Dieffenbach, C. W. and Hay, J. Hantaan virus infection of human endothelial cells. *J Virol*, 66, 10 (Oct 1992), 5929-5936.

[75] Temonen, M., Vapalahti, O., Holthofer, H., Brummer-Korvenkontio, M., Vaheri, A. and Lankinen, H. Susceptibility of human cells to Puumala virus infection. *J Gen Virol*, 74 (Pt 3)(Mar 1993), 515-518.

[76] Raftery, M. J., Kraus, A. A., Ulrich, R., Kruger, D. H. and Schonrich, G. Hantavirus infection of dendritic cells. *J Virol*, 76, 21 (Nov 2002), 10724-10733.
[77] Gavrilovskaya, I. N., Brown, E. J., Ginsberg, M. H. and Mackow, E. R. Cellular entry of hantaviruses which cause hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome is mediated

by beta3 integrins. J Virol, 73, 5 (May 1999), 3951-3959.

[78] Gavrilovskaya, I. N., Shepley, M., Shaw, R., Ginsberg, M. H. and Mackow, E. R. beta3 Integrins mediate the cellular entry of hantaviruses that cause respiratory failure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 12 (Jun 9 1998), 7074-7079.

[79] Larson, R. S., Brown, D. C., Ye, C. and Hjelle, B. Peptide antagonists that inhibit Sin Nombre virus and hantaan virus entry through the beta3-integrin receptor. *J Virol*, 79, 12 (Jun 2005), 7319-7326.

[80] Krautkramer, E. and Zeier, M. Hantavirus causing hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome enters from the apical surface and requires decay-accelerating factor (DAF/CD55). *J Virol*, 82, 9 (May 2008), 4257-4264.

[81] Jin, M., Park, J., Lee, S., Park, B., Shin, J., Song, K. J., Ahn, T. I., Hwang, S. Y., Ahn, B. Y. and Ahn, K. Hantaan virus enters cells by clathrin-dependent receptormediated endocytosis. *Virology*, 294, 1 (Mar 1 2002), 60-69.

[82] Mir, M. A., Duran, W. A., Hjelle, B. L., Ye, C. and Panganiban, A. T. Storage of cellular 5' mRNA caps in P bodies for viral cap-snatching. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 49 (Dec 9 2008), 19294-19299.

[83] Mir, M. A., Sheema, S., Haseeb, A. and Haque, A. Hantavirus nucleocapsid protein has distinct m7G cap- and RNA-binding sites. *J Biol Chem*, 285, 15 (Apr 9 2010), 11357-11368.

[84] Dunn, E. F., Pritlove, D. C., Jin, H. and Elliott, R. M. Transcription of a recombinant bunyavirus RNA template by transiently expressed bunyavirus proteins. *Virology*, 211, 1 (Aug 1 1995), 133-143.

[85] Garcin, D., Lezzi, M., Dobbs, M., Elliott, R. M., Schmaljohn, C., Kang, C. Y. and Kolakofsky, D. The 5' ends of Hantaan virus (Bunyaviridae) RNAs suggest a primeand-realign mechanism for the initiation of RNA synthesis. *J Virol*, 69, 9 (Sep 1995), 5754-5762.

[86] Plyusnin, A., Vapalahti, O. and Vaheri, A. Hantaviruses: genome structure, expression and evolution. *J Gen Virol*, 77 (Pt 11)(Nov 1996), 2677-2687.

[87] Mir, M. A. and Panganiban, A. T. A protein that replaces the entire cellular eIF4F complex. *EMBO J*, 27, 23 (Dec 3 2008), 3129-3139.

[88] Lober, C., Anheier, B., Lindow, S., Klenk, H. D. and Feldmann, H. The Hantaan virus glycoprotein precursor is cleaved at the conserved pentapeptide WAASA. *Virology*, 289, 2 (Oct 25 2001), 224-229.

[89] Antic, D., Wright, K. E. and Kang, C. Y. Maturation of Hantaan virus glycoproteins G1 and G2. *Virology*, 189, 1 (Jul 1992), 324-328.

[90] Shi, X. and Elliott, R. M. Analysis of N-linked glycosylation of hantaan virus glycoproteins and the role of oligosaccharide side chains in protein folding and intracellular trafficking. *J Virol*, 78, 10 (May 2004), 5414-5422.

[91] Pensiero, M. N., Jennings, G. B., Schmaljohn, C. S. and Hay, J. Expression of the Hantaan virus M genome segment by using a vaccinia virus recombinant. *J Virol*, 62, 3 (Mar 1988), 696-702.

[92] Ruusala, A., Persson, R., Schmaljohn, C. S. and Pettersson, R. F. Coexpression of the membrane glycoproteins G1 and G2 of Hantaan virus is required for targeting to the Golgi complex. *Virology*, 186, 1 (Jan 1992), 53-64.

[93] Mir, M. A. and Panganiban, A. T. Trimeric hantavirus nucleocapsid protein binds specifically to the viral RNA panhandle. *J Virol*, 78, 15 (Aug 2004), 8281-8288.

[94] Hepojoki, J., Strandin, T., Wang, H., Vapalahti, O., Vaheri, A. and Lankinen, H. Cytoplasmic tails of hantavirus glycoproteins interact with the nucleocapsid protein. *J Gen Virol*, 91, Pt 9 (Sep 2010), 2341-2350.

[95] Wang, H., Alminaite, A., Vaheri, A. and Plyusnin, A. Interaction between hantaviral nucleocapsid protein and the cytoplasmic tail of surface glycoprotein Gn. *Virus Res*, 151, 2 (Aug 2010), 205-212.

[96] Strandin, T., Hepojoki, J., Wang, H., Vaheri, A. and Lankinen, H. The cytoplasmic tail of hantavirus Gn glycoprotein interacts with RNA. *Virology*, 418, 1 (Sep 15 2011), 12-20.

[97] Goldsmith, C. S., Elliott, L. H., Peters, C. J. and Zaki, S. R. Ultrastructural characteristics of Sin Nombre virus, causative agent of hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. *Arch Virol*, 140, 12 1995), 2107-2122.

[98] Ravkov, E. V., Nichol, S. T. and Compans, R. W. Polarized entry and release in epithelial cells of Black Creek Canal virus, a New World hantavirus. *J Virol*, 71, 2 (Feb 1997), 1147-1154.

[99] Georgel, P., Jiang, Z., Kunz, S., Janssen, E., Mols, J., Hoebe, K., Bahram, S., Oldstone, M. B. and Beutler, B. Vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein G activates a specific antiviral Toll-like receptor 4-dependent pathway. *Virology*, 362, 2 (Jun 5 2007), 304-313.

[100] Goldsby, R. A., Kindt, T. J., Osborne, B. A. and Kuby, J. *Kuby immunology*. W.H. Freeman, New York, 2000.

[101] Vivier, E., Tomasello, E., Baratin, M., Walzer, T. and Ugolini, S. Functions of natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol*, 9, 5 (May 2008), 503-510.

[102] Wink, D. A., Hines, H. B., Cheng, R. Y., Switzer, C. H., Flores-Santana, W., Vitek, M. P., Ridnour, L. A. and Colton, C. A. Nitric oxide and redox mechanisms in the immune response. *J Leukoc Biol*, 89, 6 (Jun 2011), 873-891.

[103] Feghali, C. A. and Wright, T. M. Cytokines in acute and chronic inflammation. *Front Biosci*, 2(Jan 1 1997), d12-26.

[104] Borish, L. C. and Steinke, J. W. 2. Cytokines and chemokines. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 111, 2 Suppl (Feb 2003), S460-475.

[105] Clyne, B. and Olshaker, J. S. The C-reactive protein. *J Emerg Med*, 17, 6 (Nov-Dec 1999), 1019-1025.

[106] Akira, S., Uematsu, S. and Takeuchi, O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell*, 124, 4 (Feb 24 2006), 783-801.

[107] Aliprantis, A. O., Yang, R. B., Mark, M. R., Suggett, S., Devaux, B., Radolf, J. D., Klimpel, G. R., Godowski, P. and Zychlinsky, A. Cell activation and apoptosis by bacterial lipoproteins through toll-like receptor-2. *Science*, 285, 5428 (Jul 30 1999), 736-739.

[108] Alexopoulou, L., Holt, A. C., Medzhitov, R. and Flavell, R. A. Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. *Nature*, 413, 6857 (Oct 18 2001), 732-738.

[109] Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M. Y., Van Huffel, C., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Galanos, C., Freudenberg, M., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Layton, B. and Beutler, B. Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. *Science*, 282, 5396 (Dec 11 1998), 2085-2088.

[110] Hayashi, F., Smith, K. D., Ozinsky, A., Hawn, T. R., Yi, E. C., Goodlett, D. R., Eng, J. K., Akira, S., Underhill, D. M. and Aderem, A. The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor 5. *Nature*, 410, 6832 (Apr 26 2001), 1099-1103.

[111] Heil, F., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Kirschning, C., Akira, S., Lipford, G., Wagner, H. and Bauer, S. Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. *Science*, 303, 5663 (Mar 5 2004), 1526-1529.

[112] Diebold, S. S. Recognition of viral single-stranded RNA by Toll-like receptors. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 60, 7 (Apr 29 2008), 813-823.

[113] Hemmi, H., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Kaisho, T., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Matsumoto, M., Hoshino, K., Wagner, H., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. *Nature*, 408, 6813 (Dec 7 2000), 740-745.

[114] Thompson, M. R., Kaminski, J. J., Kurt-Jones, E. A. and Fitzgerald, K. A. Pattern recognition receptors and the innate immune response to viral infection. *Viruses*, 3, 6 (Jun 2011), 920-940.

[115] Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Natsukawa, T., Shinobu, N., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Akira, S. and Fujita, T. The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. *Nat Immunol*, 5, 7 (Jul 2004), 730-737.

[116] Andrejeva, J., Childs, K. S., Young, D. F., Carlos, T. S., Stock, N., Goodbourn, S. and Randall, R. E. The V proteins of paramyxoviruses bind the IFN-inducible RNA helicase, mda-5, and inhibit its activation of the IFN-beta promoter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 101, 49 (Dec 7 2004), 17264-17269.

[117] Gitlin, L., Barchet, W., Gilfillan, S., Cella, M., Beutler, B., Flavell, R. A., Diamond, M. S. and Colonna, M. Essential role of mda-5 in type I IFN responses to polyriboinosinic:polyribocytidylic acid and encephalomyocarditis picornavirus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 22 (May 30 2006), 8459-8464.

[118] Kato, H., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Yoneyama, M., Yamamoto, M., Matsui, K., Uematsu, S., Jung, A., Kawai, T., Ishii, K. J., Yamaguchi, O., Otsu, K., Tsujimura, T., Koh, C. S., Reis e Sousa, C., Matsuura, Y., Fujita, T. and Akira, S. Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses. *Nature*, 441, 7089 (May 4 2006), 101-105.

[119] Hornung, V., Ellegast, J., Kim, S., Brzozka, K., Jung, A., Kato, H., Poeck, H., Akira, S., Conzelmann, K. K., Schlee, M., Endres, S. and Hartmann, G. 5'-Triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. *Science*, 314, 5801 (Nov 10 2006), 994-997.

[120] Pichlmair, A., Schulz, O., Tan, C. P., Naslund, T. I., Liljestrom, P., Weber, F. and Reis e Sousa, C. RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates. *Science*, 314, 5801 (Nov 10 2006), 997-1001.

[121] Lu, C., Ranjith-Kumar, C. T., Hao, L., Kao, C. C. and Li, P. Crystal structure of RIG-I C-terminal domain bound to blunt-ended double-strand RNA without 5' triphosphate. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 39, 4 (Mar 2011), 1565-1575.

[122] Habjan, M., Andersson, I., Klingstrom, J., Schumann, M., Martin, A.,

Zimmermann, P., Wagner, V., Pichlmair, A., Schneider, U., Muhlberger, E., Mirazimi, A. and Weber, F. Processing of genome 5' termini as a strategy of negative-strand RNA viruses to avoid RIG-I-dependent interferon induction. *PLoS One*, 3, 4 2008), e2032. [123] Lee, M. H., Lalwani, P., Raftery, M. J., Matthaei, M., Lutteke, N., Kirsanovs, S., Binder, M., Ulrich, R. G., Giese, T., Wolff, T., Kruger, D. H. and Schonrich, G. RNA helicase retinoic acid-inducible gene I as a sensor of Hantaan virus replication. *J Gen Virol*, 92, Pt 9 (Sep 2011), 2191-2200.

[124] Isaacs, A. and Lindenmann, J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 147, 927 (Sep 12 1957), 258-267.

[125] Pestka, S., Krause, C. D. and Walter, M. R. Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors. *Immunol Rev*, 202(Dec 2004), 8-32.

[126] Bartlett, N. W., Buttigieg, K., Kotenko, S. V. and Smith, G. L. Murine interferon lambdas (type III interferons) exhibit potent antiviral activity in vivo in a poxvirus infection model. *J Gen Virol*, 86, Pt 6 (Jun 2005), 1589-1596.

[127] Kotenko, S. V., Gallagher, G., Baurin, V. V., Lewis-Antes, A., Shen, M., Shah, N. K., Langer, J. A., Sheikh, F., Dickensheets, H. and Donnelly, R. P. IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. *Nat Immunol*, 4, 1 (Jan 2003), 69-77.

[128] Sheppard, P., Kindsvogel, W., Xu, W., Henderson, K., Schlutsmeyer, S.,

Whitmore, T. E., Kuestner, R., Garrigues, U., Birks, C., Roraback, J., Ostrander, C., Dong, D., Shin, J., Presnell, S., Fox, B., Haldeman, B., Cooper, E., Taft, D., Gilbert, T., Grant, F. J., Tackett, M., Krivan, W., McKnight, G., Clegg, C., Foster, D. and Klucher, K. M. IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. *Nat Immunol*, 4, 1 (Jan 2003), 63-68.

[129] Ank, N., West, H., Bartholdy, C., Eriksson, K., Thomsen, A. R. and Paludan, S. R. Lambda interferon (IFN-lambda), a type III IFN, is induced by viruses and IFNs and displays potent antiviral activity against select virus infections in vivo. *J Virol*, 80, 9 (May 2006), 4501-4509.

[130] Ank, N., West, H. and Paludan, S. R. IFN-lambda: novel antiviral cytokines. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 26, 6 (Jun 2006), 373-379.

[131] Li, M., Liu, X., Zhou, Y. and Su, S. B. Interferon-lambdas: the modulators of antivirus, antitumor, and immune responses. *J Leukoc Biol*, 86, 1 (Jul 2009), 23-32. [132] Uze, G. and Monneron, D. IL-28 and IL-29: newcomers to the interferon family. *Biochimie*, 89, 6-7 (Jun-Jul 2007), 729-734.

[133] Okabayashi, T., Kojima, T., Masaki, T., Yokota, S., Imaizumi, T., Tsutsumi, H., Himi, T., Fujii, N. and Sawada, N. Type-III interferon, not type-I, is the predominant interferon induced by respiratory viruses in nasal epithelial cells. *Virus Res*, 160, 1-2 (Sep 2011), 360-366.

[134] Zhou, P., Cowled, C., Todd, S., Crameri, G., Virtue, E. R., Marsh, G. A., Klein, R., Shi, Z., Wang, L. F. and Baker, M. L. Type III IFNs in pteropid bats: differential expression patterns provide evidence for distinct roles in antiviral immunity. *J Immunol*, 186, 5 (Mar 1 2011), 3138-3147.

[135] Sarkar, S. N., Peters, K. L., Elco, C. P., Sakamoto, S., Pal, S. and Sen, G. C. Novel roles of TLR3 tyrosine phosphorylation and PI3 kinase in double-stranded RNA signaling. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 11, 11 (Nov 2004), 1060-1067.

[136] Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Hemmi, H., Hoshino, K., Kaisho, T., Sanjo, H., Takeuchi, O., Sugiyama, M., Okabe, M., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. *Science*, 301, 5633 (Aug 1 2003), 640-643. [137] Jiang, Z., Mak, T. W., Sen, G. and Li, X. Toll-like receptor 3-mediated activation of NF-kappaB and IRF3 diverges at Toll-IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter inducing IFN-beta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 10 (Mar 9 2004), 3533-3538.
[138] Ghosh, S. and Baltimore, D. Activation in vitro of NF-kappa B by

phosphorylation of its inhibitor I kappa B. *Nature*, 344, 6267 (Apr 12 1990), 678-682. [139] Verma, I. M. and Stevenson, J. IkappaB kinase: beginning, not the end. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 22 (Oct 28 1997), 11758-11760.

[140] Wang, C., Deng, L., Hong, M., Akkaraju, G. R., Inoue, J. and Chen, Z. J. TAK1 is a ubiquitin-dependent kinase of MKK and IKK. *Nature*, 412, 6844 (Jul 19 2001), 346-351.

[141] Hacker, H., Redecke, V., Blagoev, B., Kratchmarova, I., Hsu, L. C., Wang, G. G., Kamps, M. P., Raz, E., Wagner, H., Hacker, G., Mann, M. and Karin, M. Specificity in Toll-like receptor signalling through distinct effector functions of TRAF3 and TRAF6. *Nature*, 439, 7073 (Jan 12 2006), 204-207.

[142] Oganesyan, G., Saha, S. K., Guo, B., He, J. Q., Shahangian, A., Zarnegar, B., Perry, A. and Cheng, G. Critical role of TRAF3 in the Toll-like receptor-dependent and -independent antiviral response. *Nature*, 439, 7073 (Jan 12 2006), 208-211.

[143] Fitzgerald, K. A., McWhirter, S. M., Faia, K. L., Rowe, D. C., Latz, E., Golenbock, D. T., Coyle, A. J., Liao, S. M. and Maniatis, T. IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. *Nat Immunol*, 4, 5 (May 2003), 491-496.

[144] Kawai, T., Takahashi, K., Sato, S., Coban, C., Kumar, H., Kato, H., Ishii, K. J., Takeuchi, O. and Akira, S. IPS-1, an adaptor triggering RIG-I- and Mda5-mediated type I interferon induction. *Nat Immunol*, 6, 10 (Oct 2005), 981-988.

[145] Xu, L. G., Wang, Y. Y., Han, K. J., Li, L. Y., Zhai, Z. and Shu, H. B. VISA is an adapter protein required for virus-triggered IFN-beta signaling. *Mol Cell*, 19, 6 (Sep 16 2005), 727-740.

[146] Kawai, T., Sato, S., Ishii, K. J., Coban, C., Hemmi, H., Yamamoto, M., Terai, K., Matsuda, M., Inoue, J., Uematsu, S., Takeuchi, O. and Akira, S. Interferon-alpha induction through Toll-like receptors involves a direct interaction of IRF7 with MyD88 and TRAF6. *Nat Immunol*, *5*, 10 (Oct 2004), 1061-1068.

[147] Barchet, W., Cella, M. and Colonna, M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells--virus experts of innate immunity. *Semin Immunol*, 17, 4 (Aug 2005), 253-261.

[148] Coccia, E. M., Severa, M., Giacomini, E., Monneron, D., Remoli, M. E., Julkunen, I., Cella, M., Lande, R. and Uze, G. Viral infection and Toll-like receptor agonists induce a differential expression of type I and lambda interferons in human plasmacytoid and monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol*, 34, 3 (Mar 2004), 796-805.

[149] Siren, J., Pirhonen, J., Julkunen, I. and Matikainen, S. IFN-alpha regulates TLRdependent gene expression of IFN-alpha, IFN-beta, IL-28, and IL-29. *J Immunol*, 174, 4 (Feb 15 2005), 1932-1937.

[150] Tissari, J., Siren, J., Meri, S., Julkunen, I. and Matikainen, S. IFN-alpha enhances TLR3-mediated antiviral cytokine expression in human endothelial and epithelial cells by up-regulating TLR3 expression. *J Immunol*, 174, 7 (Apr 1 2005), 4289-4294.

[151] Ank, N., Iversen, M. B., Bartholdy, C., Staeheli, P., Hartmann, R., Jensen, U. B., Dagnaes-Hansen, F., Thomsen, A. R., Chen, Z., Haugen, H., Klucher, K. and Paludan, S. R. An important role for type III interferon (IFN-lambda/IL-28) in TLR-induced antiviral activity. *J Immunol*, 180, 4 (Feb 15 2008), 2474-2485.

[152] Honda, K., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Asagiri, M., Sato, M., Mizutani, T., Shimada, N., Ohba, Y., Takaoka, A., Yoshida, N. and Taniguchi, T. IRF-7 is the master regulator of type-I interferon-dependent immune responses. *Nature*, 434, 7034 (Apr 7 2005), 772-777.

[153] Maniatis, T., Falvo, J. V., Kim, T. H., Kim, T. K., Lin, C. H., Parekh, B. S. and Wathelet, M. G. Structure and function of the interferon-beta enhanceosome. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol*, 631998), 609-620.

[154] Marie, I., Durbin, J. E. and Levy, D. E. Differential viral induction of distinct interferon-alpha genes by positive feedback through interferon regulatory factor-7. *Embo J*, 17, 22 (Nov 16 1998), 6660-6669.

[155] Osterlund, P. I., Pietila, T. E., Veckman, V., Kotenko, S. V. and Julkunen, I. IFN regulatory factor family members differentially regulate the expression of type III IFN (IFN-lambda) genes. *J Immunol*, 179, 6 (Sep 15 2007), 3434-3442.

[156] Thomson, S. J., Goh, F. G., Banks, H., Krausgruber, T., Kotenko, S. V., Foxwell, B. M. and Udalova, I. A. The role of transposable elements in the regulation of IFN-lambda1 gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 28 (Jul 14 2009), 11564-11569.

[157] Iversen, M. B., Ank, N., Melchjorsen, J. and Paludan, S. R. Expression of type III interferon (IFN) in the vaginal mucosa is mediated primarily by dendritic cells and displays stronger dependence on NF-kappaB than type I IFNs. *J Virol*, 84, 9 (May 2010), 4579-4586.

[158] Randall, R. E. and Goodbourn, S. Interferons and viruses: an interplay between induction, signalling, antiviral responses and virus countermeasures. *J Gen Virol*, 89, Pt 1 (Jan 2008), 1-47.

[159] Dai, J., Megjugorac, N. J., Gallagher, G. E., Yu, R. Y. and Gallagher, G. IFNlambda1 (IL-29) inhibits GATA3 expression and suppresses Th2 responses in human naive and memory T cells. *Blood*, 113, 23 (Jun 4 2009), 5829-5838.

[160] Megjugorac, N. J., Gallagher, G. E. and Gallagher, G. Modulation of human plasmacytoid DC function by IFN-lambda1 (IL-29). *J Leukoc Biol*, 86, 6 (Dec 2009), 1359-1363.

[161] Sommereyns, C., Paul, S., Staeheli, P. and Michiels, T. IFN-lambda (IFN-lambda) is expressed in a tissue-dependent fashion and primarily acts on epithelial cells in vivo. *PLoS Pathog*, 4, 3 (Mar 2008), e1000017.

[162] Numasaki, M., Tagawa, M., Iwata, F., Suzuki, T., Nakamura, A., Okada, M., Iwakura, Y., Aiba, S. and Yamaya, M. IL-28 elicits antitumor responses against murine fibrosarcoma. *J Immunol*, 178, 8 (Apr 15 2007), 5086-5098.

[163] Sato, A., Ohtsuki, M., Hata, M., Kobayashi, E. and Murakami, T. Antitumor activity of IFN-lambda in murine tumor models. *J Immunol*, 176, 12 (Jun 15 2006), 7686-7694.

[164] Abushahba, W., Balan, M., Castaneda, I., Yuan, Y., Reuhl, K., Raveche, E., de la Torre, A., Lasfar, A. and Kotenko, S. V. Antitumor activity of type I and type III interferons in BNL hepatoma model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*, 59, 7 (Jul 2010), 1059-1071.

[165] Pulverer, J. E., Rand, U., Lienenklaus, S., Kugel, D., Zietara, N., Kochs, G., Naumann, R., Weiss, S., Staeheli, P., Hauser, H. and Koster, M. Temporal and spatial resolution of type I and III interferon responses in vivo. *J Virol*, 84, 17 (Sep 2010), 8626-8638.

[166] Meager, A., Visvalingam, K., Dilger, P., Bryan, D. and Wadhwa, M. Biological activity of interleukins-28 and -29: comparison with type I interferons. *Cytokine*, 31, 2 (Jul 21 2005), 109-118.

[167] Yoshimura, A., Naka, T. and Kubo, M. SOCS proteins, cytokine signalling and immune regulation. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 7, 6 (Jun 2007), 454-465.

[168] Brand, S., Zitzmann, K., Dambacher, J., Beigel, F., Olszak, T., Vlotides, G., Eichhorst, S. T., Goke, B., Diepolder, H. and Auernhammer, C. J. SOCS-1 inhibits expression of the antiviral proteins 2',5'-OAS and MxA induced by the novel

interferon-lambdas IL-28A and IL-29. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 331, 2 (Jun 3 2005), 543-548.

[169] Zhou, Z., Hamming, O. J., Ank, N., Paludan, S. R., Nielsen, A. L. and Hartmann, R. Type III interferon (IFN) induces a type I IFN-like response in a restricted subset of cells through signaling pathways involving both the Jak-STAT pathway and the mitogen-activated protein kinases. *J Virol*, 81, 14 (Jul 2007), 7749-7758.

[170] Malathi, K., Saito, T., Crochet, N., Barton, D. J., Gale, M., Jr. and Silverman, R. H. RNase L releases a small RNA from HCV RNA that refolds into a potent PAMP. *RNA*, 16, 11 (Nov 2010), 2108-2119.

[171] Malathi, K., Dong, B., Gale, M., Jr. and Silverman, R. H. Small self-RNA generated by RNase L amplifies antiviral innate immunity. *Nature*, 448, 7155 (Aug 16 2007), 816-819.

[172] Nam, J. H., Hwang, K. A., Yu, C. H., Kang, T. H., Shin, J. Y., Choi, W. Y., Kim, I. B., Joo, Y. R., Cho, H. W. and Park, K. Y. Expression of interferon inducible genes following Hantaan virus infection as a mechanism of resistance in A549 cells. *Virus Genes*, 26, 1 (Jan 2003), 31-38.

[173] Kanerva, M., Melen, K., Vaheri, A. and Julkunen, I. Inhibition of puumala and tula hantaviruses in Vero cells by MxA protein. *Virology*, 224, 1 (Oct 1 1996), 55-62. [174] Frese, M., Kochs, G., Feldmann, H., Hertkorn, C. and Haller, O. Inhibition of bunyaviruses, phleboviruses, and hantaviruses by human MxA protein. *J Virol*, 70, 2 (Feb 1996), 915-923.

[175] Krug, R. M., Shaw, M., Broni, B., Shapiro, G. and Haller, O. Inhibition of influenza viral mRNA synthesis in cells expressing the interferon-induced Mx gene product. *J Virol*, 56, 1 (Oct 1985), 201-206.

[176] Kochs, G., Janzen, C., Hohenberg, H. and Haller, O. Antivirally active MxA protein sequesters La Crosse virus nucleocapsid protein into perinuclear complexes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 5 (Mar 5 2002), 3153-3158.

[177] Haller, O., Gao, S., von der Malsburg, A., Daumke, O. and Kochs, G. Dynaminlike MxA GTPase: structural insights into oligomerization and implications for antiviral activity. *J Biol Chem*, 285, 37 (Sep 10 2010), 28419-28424.

[178] Abbas, A. K., Murphy, K. M. and Sher, A. Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. *Nature*, 383, 6603 (Oct 31 1996), 787-793.

[179] Lichtman, A. H. and Abbas, A. K. T-cell subsets: recruiting the right kind of help. *Curr Biol*, 7, 4 (Apr 1 1997), R242-244.

[180] Walzer, T., Dalod, M., Robbins, S. H., Zitvogel, L. and Vivier, E. Natural-killer cells and dendritic cells: "l'union fait la force". *Blood*, 106, 7 (Oct 1 2005), 2252-2258. [181] Gautier, G., Humbert, M., Deauvieau, F., Scuiller, M., Hiscott, J., Bates, E. E., Trinchieri, G., Caux, C. and Garrone, P. A type I interferon autocrine-paracrine loop is involved in Toll-like receptor-induced interleukin-12p70 secretion by dendritic cells. *J Exp Med*, 201, 9 (May 2 2005), 1435-1446.

[182] Gallagher, G., Megjugorac, N. J., Yu, R. Y., Eskdale, J., Gallagher, G. E., Siegel, R. and Tollar, E. The lambda interferons: guardians of the immune-epithelial interface and the T-helper 2 response. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 30, 8 (Aug 2010), 603-615.

[183] Zhang, X. L., Wang, X. H. and Liu, C. Z. [Detection of viral antigens in various organs in 14 fatal cases of epidemic hemorrhagic fever]. *Zhonghua Nei Ke Za Zhi*, 26, 8 (Aug 1987), 461-463, 509-410.

[184] Yanagihara, R. and Silverman, D. J. Experimental infection of human vascular endothelial cells by pathogenic and nonpathogenic hantaviruses. *Arch Virol*, 111, 3-4 1990), 281-286.

[185] Dvorak, H. F. Discovery of vascular permeability factor (VPF). *Exp Cell Res*, 312, 5 (Mar 10 2006), 522-526.

[186] Mackow, E. R. and Gavrilovskaya, I. N. Hantavirus regulation of endothelial cell functions. *Thromb Haemost*, 102, 6 (Dec 2009), 1030-1041.

[187] Raymond, T., Gorbunova, E., Gavrilovskaya, I. N. and Mackow, E. R. Pathogenic hantaviruses bind plexin-semaphorin-integrin domains present at the apex of inactive, bent alphavbeta3 integrin conformers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 102, 4 (Jan 25 2005), 1163-1168.

[188] Gavrilovskaya, I. N., Peresleni, T., Geimonen, E. and Mackow, E. R. Pathogenic hantaviruses selectively inhibit beta3 integrin directed endothelial cell migration. *Arch Virol*, 147, 10 (Oct 2002), 1913-1931.

[189] Gavrilovskaya, I. N., Gorbunova, E. E., Mackow, N. A. and Mackow, E. R. Hantaviruses direct endothelial cell permeability by sensitizing cells to the vascular permeability factor VEGF, while angiopoietin 1 and sphingosine 1-phosphate inhibit hantavirus-directed permeability. *J Virol*, 82, 12 (Jun 2008), 5797-5806.

[190] Shrivastava-Ranjan, P., Rollin, P. E. and Spiropoulou, C. F. Andes virus disrupts the endothelial cell barrier by induction of vascular endothelial growth factor and downregulation of VE-cadherin. *J Virol*, 84, 21 (Nov 2010), 11227-11234.

[191] Elliott, R. M. and Weber, F. Bunyaviruses and the type I interferon system. *Viruses*, 1, 3 (Dec 2009), 1003-1021.

[192] Haller, O., Kochs, G. and Weber, F. The interferon response circuit: induction and suppression by pathogenic viruses. *Virology*, 344, 1 (Jan 5 2006), 119-130.

[193] Geimonen, E., Neff, S., Raymond, T., Kocer, S. S., Gavrilovskaya, I. N. and Mackow, E. R. Pathogenic and nonpathogenic hantaviruses differentially regulate endothelial cell responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 21 (Oct 15 2002), 13837-13842.

[194] Alff, P. J., Gavrilovskaya, I. N., Gorbunova, E., Endriss, K., Chong, Y., Geimonen, E., Sen, N., Reich, N. C. and Mackow, E. R. The pathogenic NY-1 hantavirus G1 cytoplasmic tail inhibits RIG-I- and TBK-1-directed interferon responses. *J Virol*, 80, 19 (Oct 2006), 9676-9686.

[195] Spiropoulou, C. F., Albarino, C. G., Ksiazek, T. G. and Rollin, P. E. Andes and Prospect Hill hantaviruses differ in early induction of interferon although both can downregulate interferon signaling. *J Virol*, 81, 6 (Mar 2007), 2769-2776.

[196] Schonrich, G., Rang, A., Lutteke, N., Raftery, M. J., Charbonnel, N. and Ulrich, R. G. Hantavirus-induced immunity in rodent reservoirs and humans. *Immunol Rev*, 225(Oct 2008), 163-189.

[197] Alff, P. J., Sen, N., Gorbunova, E., Gavrilovskaya, I. N. and Mackow, E. R. The NY-1 hantavirus Gn cytoplasmic tail coprecipitates TRAF3 and inhibits cellular interferon responses by disrupting TBK1-TRAF3 complex formation. *J Virol*, 82, 18 (Sep 2008), 9115-9122.

[198] Taylor, S. L., Frias-Staheli, N., Garcia-Sastre, A. and Schmaljohn, C. S. Hantaan virus nucleocapsid protein binds to importin alpha proteins and inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced activation of nuclear factor kappa B. *J Virol*, 83, 3 (Feb 2009), 1271-1279.

[199] Krakauer, T., Leduc, J. W., Morrill, J. C., Anderson, A. O. and Krakauer, H. Serum levels of alpha and gamma interferons in hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. *Viral Immunol*, 7, 2 1994), 97-101.

[200] Ennis, F. A., Cruz, J., Spiropoulou, C. F., Waite, D., Peters, C. J., Nichol, S. T., Kariwa, H. and Koster, F. T. Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome: CD8+ and CD4+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes to epitopes on Sin Nombre virus nucleocapsid protein isolated during acute illness. *Virology*, 238, 2 (Nov 24 1997), 380-390.

[201] Kilpatrick, E. D., Terajima, M., Koster, F. T., Catalina, M. D., Cruz, J. and Ennis, F. A. Role of specific CD8+ T cells in the severity of a fulminant zoonotic viral

hemorrhagic fever, hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. *J Immunol*, 172, 5 (Mar 1 2004), 3297-3304.

[202] Mori, M., Rothman, A. L., Kurane, I., Montoya, J. M., Nolte, K. B., Norman, J. E., Waite, D. C., Koster, F. T. and Ennis, F. A. High levels of cytokine-producing cells in the lung tissues of patients with fatal hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. *J Infect Dis*, 179, 2 (Feb 1999), 295-302.

[203] Borges, A. A., Campos, G. M., Moreli, M. L., Moro Souza, R. L., Saggioro, F. P., Figueiredo, G. G., Livonesi, M. C. and Moraes Figueiredo, L. T. Role of mixed Th1 and Th2 serum cytokines on pathogenesis and prognosis of hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. *Microbes Infect*, 10, 10-11 (Aug-Sep 2008), 1150-1157.

[204] Nathan, C. F., Murray, H. W., Wiebe, M. E. and Rubin, B. Y. Identification of interferon-gamma as the lymphokine that activates human macrophage oxidative metabolism and antimicrobial activity. *J Exp Med*, 158, 3 (Sep 1 1983), 670-689.

[205] Wang, M., Wang, J., Zhu, Y., Xu, Z., Yang, K., Yang, A. and Jin, B. Cellular immune response to Hantaan virus nucleocapsid protein in the acute phase of hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome: correlation with disease severity. *J Infect Dis*, 199, 2 (Jan 15 2009), 188-195.

[206] Van Epps, H. L., Schmaljohn, C. S. and Ennis, F. A. Human memory cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) responses to Hantaan virus infection: identification of virus-specific and cross-reactive CD8(+) CTL epitopes on nucleocapsid protein. *J Virol*, 73, 7 (Jul 1999), 5301-5308.

[207] Van Epps, H. L., Terajima, M., Mustonen, J., Arstila, T. P., Corey, E. A., Vaheri, A. and Ennis, F. A. Long-lived memory T lymphocyte responses after hantavirus infection. *J Exp Med*, 196, 5 (Sep 2 2002), 579-588.

[208] Temonen, M., Mustonen, J., Helin, H., Pasternack, A., Vaheri, A. and Holthofer, H. Cytokines, adhesion molecules, and cellular infiltration in nephropathia epidemica kidneys: an immunohistochemical study. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol*, 78, 1 (Jan 1996), 47-55.

[209] Linderholm, M., Ahlm, C., Settergren, B., Waage, A. and Tarnvik, A. Elevated plasma levels of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha, soluble TNF receptors, interleukin (IL)-6, and IL-10 in patients with hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. *J Infect Dis*, 173, 1 (Jan 1996), 38-43.

[210] Groeneveld, P. H., Colson, P., Kwappenberg, K. M. and Clement, J. Increased production of nitric oxide in patients infected with the European variant of hantavirus. *Scand J Infect Dis*, 27, 5 1995), 453-456.

[211] Linderholm, M., Groeneveld, P. H. and Tarnvik, A. Increased production of nitric oxide in patients with hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome--relation to arterial hypotension and tumor necrosis factor. *Infection*, 24, 5 (Sep-Oct 1996), 337-340.

[212] Nickerson, P. A., Matalon, S. and Farhi, L. E. An ultrastructural study of alveolar permeability to cytochrome C in the rabbit lung: effect of exposure to 100% oxygen at one atmosphere. *Am J Pathol*, 102, 1 (Jan 1981), 1-9.

[213] Matalon, S. and Egan, E. A. Effects of 100% O2 breathing on permeability of alveolar epithelium to solute. *J Appl Physiol*, 50, 4 (Apr 1981), 859-863.

[214] Beissert, S., Schwarz, A. and Schwarz, T. Regulatory T cells. *J Invest Dermatol*, 126, 1 (Jan 2006), 15-24.

[215] Schountz, T., Prescott, J., Cogswell, A. C., Oko, L., Mirowsky-Garcia, K., Galvez, A. P. and Hjelle, B. Regulatory T cell-like responses in deer mice persistently infected with Sin Nombre virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104, 39 (Sep 25 2007), 15496-15501.

[216] Easterbrook, J. D. and Klein, S. L. Seoul virus enhances regulatory and reduces proinflammatory responses in male Norway rats. *J Med Virol*, 80, 7 (Jul 2008), 1308-1318.

[217] Easterbrook, J. D., Zink, M. C. and Klein, S. L. Regulatory T cells enhance persistence of the zoonotic pathogen Seoul virus in its reservoir host. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104, 39 (Sep 25 2007), 15502-15507.

[218] Lindgren, T., Ahlm, C., Mohamed, N., Evander, M., Ljunggren, H. G. and Bjorkstrom, N. K. Longitudinal Analysis of the Human T Cell Response during Acute Hantavirus Infection. *J Virol*(Jul 27 2011).

[219] Courouble, P., Vanpee, D., Delgrange, E., Donckier, J., Pochet, J. M. and Gillet, J. B. Hantavirus infections: clinical presentation in the emergency room. *Eur J Emerg Med*, 8, 1 (Mar 2001), 17-20.

[220] Klingstrom, J., Hardestam, J., Stoltz, M., Zuber, B., Lundkvist, A., Linder, S. and Ahlm, C. Loss of cell membrane integrity in puumala hantavirus-infected patients correlates with levels of epithelial cell apoptosis and perforin. *J Virol*, 80, 16 (Aug 2006), 8279-8282.

[221] Bjorkstrom, N. K., Lindgren, T., Stoltz, M., Fauriat, C., Braun, M., Evander, M., Michaelsson, J., Malmberg, K. J., Klingstrom, J., Ahlm, C. and Ljunggren, H. G. Rapid expansion and long-term persistence of elevated NK cell numbers in humans infected with hantavirus. *J Exp Med*, 208, 1 (Jan 17 2011), 13-21.

[222] LeDuc, J. W., Ksiazek, T. G., Rossi, C. A. and Dalrymple, J. M. A retrospective analysis of sera collected by the Hemorrhagic Fever Commission during the Korean Conflict. *J Infect Dis*, 162, 5 (Nov 1990), 1182-1184.

[223] MacNeil, A., Comer, J. A., Ksiazek, T. G. and Rollin, P. E. Sin Nombre virusspecific immunoglobulin M and G kinetics in hantavirus pulmonary syndrome and the role played by serologic responses in predicting disease outcome. *J Infect Dis*, 202, 2 (Jul 15 2010), 242-246.

[224] Alexeyev, O. A., Ahlm, C., Billheden, J., Settergren, B., Wadell, G. and Juto, P. Elevated levels of total and Puumala virus-specific immunoglobulin E in the Scandinavian type of hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*, 1, 3 (May 1994), 269-272.

[225] Horling, J., Lundkvist, A., Huggins, J. W. and Niklasson, B. Antibodies to Puumala virus in humans determined by neutralization test. *J Virol Methods*, 39, 1-2 (Sep 1992), 139-147.

[226] Lundkvist, A., Horling, J. and Niklasson, B. The humoral response to Puumala virus infection (nephropathia epidemica) investigated by viral protein specific immunoassays. *Arch Virol*, 130, 1-2 1993), 121-130.

[227] Settergren, B., Ahlm, C., Juto, P. and Niklasson, B. Specific Puumala IgG virus half a century after haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. *Lancet*, 338, 8758 (Jul 6 1991), 66.

[228] Tsai, T. F., Bauer, S., McCormick, J. B. and Kurata, T. Intracerebral inoculation of suckling mice with Hantaan virus. *Lancet*, 2, 8296 (Aug 28 1982), 503-504.

[229] Kim, G. R. and McKee, K. T., Jr. Pathogenesis of Hantaan virus infection in suckling mice: clinical, virologic, and serologic observations. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 34, 2 (Mar 1985), 388-395.

[230] Yoo, Y. C., Yoshimatsu, K., Yoshida, R., Tamura, M., Azuma, I. and Arikawa, J. Comparison of virulence between Seoul virus strain SR-11 and Hantaan virus strain 76-118 of hantaviruses in newborn mice. *Microbiol Immunol*, 37, 7 1993), 557-562.

[231] Klingstrom, J., Hardestam, J. and Lundkvist, A. Dobrava, but not Saaremaa, hantavirus is lethal and induces nitric oxide production in suckling mice. *Microbes Infect*, 8, 3 (Mar 2006), 728-737.

[232] McKee, K. T., Jr., Kim, G. R., Green, D. E. and Peters, C. J. Hantaan virus infection in suckling mice: virologic and pathologic correlates. *J Med Virol*, 17, 2 (Oct 1985), 107-117.

[233] Hooper, J. W., Larsen, T., Custer, D. M. and Schmaljohn, C. S. A lethal disease model for hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. *Virology*, 289, 1 (Oct 10 2001), 6-14.
[234] Safronetz, D., Haddock, E., Feldmann, F., Ebihara, H. and Feldmann, H. In Vitro and In Vivo Activity of Ribavirin against Andes Virus Infection. *PLoS One*, 6, 8 2011), e23560.

[235] Safronetz, D., Hegde, N. R., Ebihara, H., Denton, M., Kobinger, G. P., St Jeor, S., Feldmann, H. and Johnson, D. C. Adenovirus vectors expressing hantavirus proteins protect hamsters against lethal challenge with andes virus. *J Virol*, 83, 14 (Jul 2009), 7285-7295.

[236] Hammerbeck, C. D. and Hooper, J. W. T Cells Are Not Required for Pathogenesis in the Syrian Hamster Model of Hantavirus Pulmonary Syndrome. *J Virol*(Jul 20 2011).

[237] Klingstrom, J., Plyusnin, A., Vaheri, A. and Lundkvist, A. Wild-type Puumala hantavirus infection induces cytokines, C-reactive protein, creatinine, and nitric oxide in cynomolgus macaques. *J Virol*, 76, 1 (Jan 2002), 444-449.

[238] Sironen, T., Klingstrom, J., Vaheri, A., Andersson, L. C., Lundkvist, A. and Plyusnin, A. Pathology of Puumala hantavirus infection in macaques. *PLoS One*, 3, 8 2008), e3035.

[239] Klingstrom, J., Stoltz, M., Hardestam, J., Ahlm, C. and Lundkvist, A. Passive immunization protects cynomolgus macaques against Puumala hantavirus challenge. *Antivir Ther*, 13, 1 2008), 125-133.

[240] Kirsi, J. J., North, J. A., McKernan, P. A., Murray, B. K., Canonico, P. G., Huggins, J. W., Srivastava, P. C. and Robins, R. K. Broad-spectrum antiviral activity of 2-beta-D-ribofuranosylselenazole-4-carboxamide, a new antiviral agent. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 24, 3 (Sep 1983), 353-361.

[241] Huggins, J. W., Kim, G. R., Brand, O. M. and McKee, K. T., Jr. Ribavirin therapy for Hantaan virus infection in suckling mice. *J Infect Dis*, 153, 3 (Mar 1986), 489-497.

[242] Huggins, J. W., Hsiang, C. M., Cosgriff, T. M., Guang, M. Y., Smith, J. I., Wu, Z. O., LeDuc, J. W., Zheng, Z. M., Meegan, J. M., Wang, Q. N. and et al. Prospective, double-blind, concurrent, placebo-controlled clinical trial of intravenous ribavirin therapy of hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. *J Infect Dis*, 164, 6 (Dec 1991), 1119-1127.

[243] Chapman, L. E., Mertz, G. J., Peters, C. J., Jolson, H. M., Khan, A. S., Ksiazek, T. G., Koster, F. T., Baum, K. F., Rollin, P. E., Pavia, A. T., Holman, R. C.,

Christenson, J. C., Rubin, P. J., Behrman, R. E., Bell, L. J., Simpson, G. L. and Sadek, R. F. Intravenous ribavirin for hantavirus pulmonary syndrome: safety and tolerance during 1 year of open-label experience. Ribavirin Study Group. *Antivir Ther*, 4, 4 1999), 211-219.

[244] Swain, M. G., Lai, M. Y., Shiffman, M. L., Cooksley, W. G., Zeuzem, S., Dieterich, D. T., Abergel, A., Pessoa, M. G., Lin, A., Tietz, A., Connell, E. V. and Diago, M. A sustained virologic response is durable in patients with chronic hepatitis C treated with peginterferon alfa-2a and ribavirin. *Gastroenterology*, 139, 5 (Nov 2010), 1593-1601.

[245] Tamura, M., Asada, H., Kondo, K., Takahashi, M. and Yamanishi, K. Effects of human and murine interferons against hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (HFRS) virus (Hantaan virus). *Antiviral Res*, 8, 4 (Nov 1987), 171-178.

[246] Gui, X. E., Ho, M., Cohen, M. S., Wang, Q. L., Huang, H. P. and Xie, Q. X. Hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome: treatment with recombinant alpha interferon. *J Infect Dis*, 155, 5 (May 1987), 1047-1051.

[247] Cho, H. W. and Howard, C. R. Antibody responses in humans to an inactivated hantavirus vaccine (Hantavax). *Vaccine*, 17, 20-21 (Jun 4 1999), 2569-2575.

[248] Kruger, D. H., Ulrich, R. and Lundkvist, A. A. Hantavirus infections and their prevention. *Microbes Infect*, 3, 13 (Nov 2001), 1129-1144.

[249] Dong, G. M., Han, L., An, Q., Liu, W. X., Kong, Y. and Yang, L. H. Immunization effect of purified bivalent vaccine to haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome manufactured from primary cultured hamster kidney cells. *Chin Med J* (*Engl*), 118, 9 (May 5 2005), 766-768.

[250] Klingstrom, J., Maljkovic, I., Zuber, B., Rollman, E., Kjerrstrom, A. and Lundkvist, A. Vaccination of C57/BL6 mice with Dobrava hantavirus nucleocapsid protein in Freund's adjuvant induced partial protection against challenge. *Vaccine*, 22, 29-30 (Sep 28 2004), 4029-4034.

[251] de Carvalho Nicacio, C., Gonzalez Della Valle, M., Padula, P., Bjorling, E., Plyusnin, A. and Lundkvist, A. Cross-protection against challenge with Puumala virus after immunization with nucleocapsid proteins from different hantaviruses. *J Virol*, 76, 13 (Jul 2002), 6669-6677.

[252] McClain, D. J., Summers, P. L., Harrison, S. A., Schmaljohn, A. L. and Schmaljohn, C. S. Clinical evaluation of a vaccinia-vectored Hantaan virus vaccine. *J Med Virol*, 60, 1 (Jan 2000), 77-85.

[253] Hooper, J. W., Custer, D. M., Smith, J. and Wahl-Jensen, V. Hantaan/Andes virus DNA vaccine elicits a broadly cross-reactive neutralizing antibody response in nonhuman primates. *Virology*, 347, 1 (Mar 30 2006), 208-216.

[254] Bucht, G., Sjolander, K. B., Eriksson, S., Lindgren, L., Lundkvist, A. and Elgh, F. Modifying the cellular transport of DNA-based vaccines alters the immune response to hantavirus nucleocapsid protein. *Vaccine*, 19, 28-29 (Jul 16 2001), 3820-3829.

[255] Spik, K. W., Badger, C., Mathiessen, I., Tjelle, T., Hooper, J. W. and Schmaljohn, C. Mixing of M segment DNA vaccines to Hantaan virus and Puumala virus reduces their immunogenicity in hamsters. *Vaccine*, 26, 40 (Sep 19 2008), 5177-5181.

[256] Hooper, J. W., Ferro, A. M. and Wahl-Jensen, V. Immune serum produced by DNA vaccination protects hamsters against lethal respiratory challenge with Andes virus. *J Virol*, 82, 3 (Feb 2008), 1332-1338.

[257] Plyusnin, A. and Morzunov, S. P. Virus evolution and genetic diversity of hantaviruses and their rodent hosts. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 2562001), 47-75.
[258] Mills, J. N., Ksiazek, T. G., Ellis, B. A., Rollin, P. E., Nichol, S. T., Yates, T. L., Gannon, W. L., Levy, C. E., Engelthaler, D. M., Davis, T., Tanda, D. T., Frampton, J. W., Nichols, C. R., Peters, C. J. and Childs, J. E. Patterns of association with host and habitat: antibody reactive with Sin Nombre virus in small mammals in the major biotic communities of the southwestern United States. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 56, 3 (Mar 1997), 273-284.

[259] Calisher, C. H., Sweeney, W., Mills, J. N. and Beaty, B. J. Natural history of Sin Nombre virus in western Colorado. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 5, 1 (Jan-Feb 1999), 126-134.

[260] Olsson, G. E., Ahlm, C., Elgh, F., Verlemyr, A. C., White, N., Juto, P. and Palo, R. T. Hantavirus antibody occurrence in bank voles (Clethrionomys glareolus) during a vole population cycle. *J Wildl Dis*, 39, 2 (Apr 2003), 299-305.

[261] Kallio, E. R., Begon, M., Henttonen, H., Koskela, E., Mappes, T., Vaheri, A. and Vapalahti, O. Hantavirus infections in fluctuating host populations: the role of maternal antibodies. *Proc Biol Sci*, 277, 1701 (Dec 22 2010), 3783-3791.

[262] Bernshtein, A. D., Apekina, N. S., Mikhailova, T. V., Myasnikov, Y. A., Khlyap, L. A., Korotkov, Y. S. and Gavrilovskaya, I. N. Dynamics of Puumala hantavirus

infection in naturally infected bank voles (Clethrinomys glareolus). *Arch Virol*, 144, 12 1999), 2415-2428.

[263] Glass, G. E., Childs, J. E., Korch, G. W. and LeDuc, J. W. Association of intraspecific wounding with hantaviral infection in wild rats (Rattus norvegicus). *Epidemiol Infect*, 101, 2 (Oct 1988), 459-472.

[264] Hardestam, J., Karlsson, M., Falk, K. I., Olsson, G., Klingstrom, J. and Lundkvist, A. Puumala hantavirus excretion kinetics in bank voles (Myodes glareolus). *Emerg Infect Dis*, 14, 8 (Aug 2008), 1209-1215.

[265] Kallio, E. R., Klingstrom, J., Gustafsson, E., Manni, T., Vaheri, A., Henttonen, H., Vapalahti, O. and Lundkvist, A. Prolonged survival of Puumala hantavirus outside the host: evidence for indirect transmission via the environment. *J Gen Virol*, 87, Pt 8 (Aug 2006), 2127-2134.

[266] Hardestam, J., Simon, M., Hedlund, K. O., Vaheri, A., Klingstrom, J. and Lundkvist, A. Ex vivo stability of the rodent-borne Hantaan virus in comparison to that of arthropod-borne members of the Bunyaviridae family. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 73, 8 (Apr 2007), 2547-2551.

[267] Ramsden, C., Holmes, E. C. and Charleston, M. A. Hantavirus evolution in relation to its rodent and insectivore hosts: no evidence for codivergence. *Mol Biol Evol*, 26, 1 (Jan 2009), 143-153.

[268] Nemirov, K., Leirs, H., Lundkvist, A. and Olsson, G. E. Puumala hantavirus and Myodes glareolus in northern Europe: no evidence of co-divergence between genetic lineages of virus and host. *J Gen Virol*, 91, Pt 5 (May 2010), 1262-1274.

[269] Lee, H. W., Lee, P. W., Baek, L. J., Song, C. K. and Seong, I. W. Intraspecific transmission of Hantaan virus, etiologic agent of Korean hemorrhagic fever, in the rodent Apodemus agrarius. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 30, 5 (Sep 1981), 1106-1112.

[270] Yanagihara, R., Amyx, H. L. and Gajdusek, D. C. Experimental infection with Puumala virus, the etiologic agent of nephropathia epidemica, in bank voles (Clethrionomys glareolus). *J Virol*, 55, 1 (Jul 1985), 34-38.

[271] Botten, J., Mirowsky, K., Kusewitt, D., Ye, C., Gottlieb, K., Prescott, J. and Hjelle, B. Persistent Sin Nombre virus infection in the deer mouse (Peromyscus maniculatus) model: sites of replication and strand-specific expression. *J Virol*, 77, 2 (Jan 2003), 1540-1550.

[272] Netski, D., Thran, B. H. and St Jeor, S. C. Sin Nombre virus pathogenesis in Peromyscus maniculatus. *J Virol*, 73, 1 (Jan 1999), 585-591.

[273] Calisher, C. H., Root, J. J., Mills, J. N., Rowe, J. E., Reeder, S. A., Jentes, E. S., Wagoner, K. and Beaty, B. J. Epizootiology of Sin Nombre and El Moro Canyon hantaviruses, southeastern Colorado, 1995-2000. *J Wildl Dis*, 41, 1 (Jan 2005), 1-11.

[274] Kallio, E. R., Voutilainen, L., Vapalahti, O., Vaheri, A., Henttonen, H., Koskela, E. and Mappes, T. Endemic hantavirus infection impairs the winter survival of its rodent host. *Ecology*, 88, 8 (Aug 2007), 1911-1916.

[275] Oko, L., Aduddell-Swope, B., Willis, D., Hamor, R., Coons, T. A., Hjelle, B. and Schountz, T. Profiling helper T cell subset gene expression in deer mice. *BMC Immunol*, 72006), 18.

[276] Herbst, M. M., Prescott, J., Palmer, A. D. and Schountz, T. Sequence and expression analysis of deer mouse interferon-gamma, interleukin-10, tumor necrosis factor, and lymphotoxin-alpha. *Cytokine*, 17, 4 (Feb 21 2002), 203-213.

[277] Schountz, T., Green, R., Davenport, B., Buniger, A., Richens, T., Root, J. J., Davidson, F., Calisher, C. H. and Beaty, B. J. Cloning and characterization of deer mouse (Peromyscus maniculatus) cytokine and chemokine cDNAs. *BMC Immunol*, 5(Jan 13 2004), 1.

[278] Araki, K., Yoshimatsu, K., Lee, B. H., Kariwa, H., Takashima, I. and Arikawa, J. A new model of Hantaan virus persistence in mice: the balance between HTNV infection and CD8(+) T-cell responses. *Virology*, 322, 2 (May 1 2004), 318-327.

[279] Klein, S. L., Cernetich, A., Hilmer, S., Hoffman, E. P., Scott, A. L. and Glass, G. E. Differential expression of immunoregulatory genes in male and female Norway rats following infection with Seoul virus. *J Med Virol*, 74, 1 (Sep 2004), 180-190.

[280] Hannah, M. F., Bajic, V. B. and Klein, S. L. Sex differences in the recognition of and innate antiviral responses to Seoul virus in Norway rats. *Brain Behav Immun*, 22, 4 (May 2008), 503-516.

[281] Guivier, E., Galan, M., Salvador, A. R., Xuereb, A., Chaval, Y., Olsson, G. E., Essbauer, S., Henttonen, H., Voutilainen, L., Cosson, J. F. and Charbonnel, N. Tnfalpha expression and promoter sequences reflect the balance of tolerance/resistance to Puumala hantavirus infection in European bank vole populations. *Infect Genet Evol*, 10, 8 (Dec 2010), 1208-1217.

[282] Davis, I. C., Zajac, A. J., Nolte, K. B., Botten, J., Hjelle, B. and Matalon, S. Elevated generation of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species in hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome. *J Virol*, 76, 16 (Aug 2002), 8347-8359.

[283] Galeno, H., Mora, J., Villagra, E., Fernandez, J., Hernandez, J., Mertz, G. J. and Ramirez, E. First human isolate of Hantavirus (Andes virus) in the Americas. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 8, 7 (Jul 2002), 657-661.

[284] Juto, P., Elgh, F., Ahlm, C., Alexeyev, O. A., Edlund, K., Lundkvist, A. and Wadell, G. The first human isolate of Puumala virus in Scandinavia as cultured from phytohemagglutinin stimulated leucocytes. *J Med Virol*, 53, 2 (Oct 1997), 150-156.

[285] Diaz, M. O., Ziemin, S., Le Beau, M. M., Pitha, P., Smith, S. D., Chilcote, R. R. and Rowley, J. D. Homozygous deletion of the alpha- and beta 1-interferon genes in human leukemia and derived cell lines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 85, 14 (Jul 1988), 5259-5263.

[286] Nemirov, K., Lundkvist, A., Vaheri, A. and Plyusnin, A. Adaptation of Puumala hantavirus to cell culture is associated with point mutations in the coding region of the L segment and in the noncoding regions of the S segment. *J Virol*, 77, 16 (Aug 2003), 8793-8800.

[287] Lundkvist, A., Cheng, Y., Sjolander, K. B., Niklasson, B., Vaheri, A. and Plyusnin, A. Cell culture adaptation of Puumala hantavirus changes the infectivity for its natural reservoir, Clethrionomys glareolus, and leads to accumulation of mutants with altered genomic RNA S segment. *J Virol*, 71, 12 (Dec 1997), 9515-9523.

[288] Mandl, C. W., Kroschewski, H., Allison, S. L., Kofler, R., Holzmann, H., Meixner, T. and Heinz, F. X. Adaptation of tick-borne encephalitis virus to BHK-21 cells results in the formation of multiple heparan sulfate binding sites in the envelope protein and attenuation in vivo. *J Virol*, 75, 12 (Jun 2001), 5627-5637.

[289] Johansson, E. S., Ekstrom, J. O., Shafren, D. R., Frisk, G., Hyypia, T., Edman, K. and Lindberg, A. M. Cell culture propagation and biochemical analysis of the Ljungan virus prototype strain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 317, 4 (May 14 2004), 1023-1029.

[290] Ekstrom, J. O., Tolf, C., Fahlgren, C., Johansson, E. S., Arbrandt, G., Niklasson, B., Edman, K. A. and Lindberg, A. M. Replication of Ljungan virus in cell culture: the genomic 5'-end, infectious cDNA clones and host cell response to viral infections. *Virus Res*, 130, 1-2 (Dec 2007), 129-139.

[291] Tolf, C., Gullberg, M., Johansson, E. S., Tesh, R. B., Andersson, B. and Lindberg, A. M. Molecular characterization of a novel Ljungan virus (Parechovirus; Picornaviridae) reveals a fourth genotype and indicates ancestral recombination. *J Gen Virol*, 90, Pt 4 (Apr 2009), 843-853.

[292] Samuel, C. E. Antiviral actions of interferons. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 14, 4 (Oct 2001), 778-809, table of contents.

[293] Geisbert, T. W. and Jahrling, P. B. Exotic emerging viral diseases: progress and challenges. *Nat Med*, 10, 12 Suppl (Dec 2004), S110-121.

[294] Levis, S. C., Saavedra, M. C., Ceccoli, C., Falcoff, E., Feuillade, M. R., Enria, D. A., Maiztegui, J. I. and Falcoff, R. Endogenous interferon in Argentine hemorrhagic fever. *J Infect Dis*, 149, 3 (Mar 1984), 428-433.

[295] Villinger, F., Rollin, P. E., Brar, S. S., Chikkala, N. F., Winter, J., Sundstrom, J. B., Zaki, S. R., Swanepoel, R., Ansari, A. A. and Peters, C. J. Markedly elevated levels of interferon (IFN)-gamma, IFN-alpha, interleukin (IL)-2, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha associated with fatal Ebola virus infection. *J Infect Dis*, 179 Suppl 1(Feb 1999), S188-191.

[296] Prescott, J., Ye, C., Sen, G. and Hjelle, B. Induction of innate immune response genes by Sin Nombre hantavirus does not require viral replication. *J Virol*, 79, 24 (Dec 2005), 15007-15015.

[297] Cunha, B. A., Minnaganti, V., Johnson, D. H. and Klein, N. C. Profound and prolonged lymphocytopenia with West Nile encephalitis. *Clin Infect Dis*, 31, 4 (Oct 2000), 1116-1117.

[298] Fisher-Hoch, S. P., Platt, G. S., Neild, G. H., Southee, T., Baskerville, A., Raymond, R. T., Lloyd, G. and Simpson, D. I. Pathophysiology of shock and hemorrhage in a fulminating viral infection (Ebola). *J Infect Dis*, 152, 5 (Nov 1985), 887-894.

[299] Nahmias, A. J., Griffith, D., Salsbury, C. and Yoshida, K. Thymic aplasia with lymphopenia, plasma cells, and normal immunoglobulins. Relation to measles virus infection. *JAMA*, 201, 10 (Sep 4 1967), 729-734.

[300] Peiris, J. S., Lai, S. T., Poon, L. L., Guan, Y., Yam, L. Y., Lim, W., Nicholls, J., Yee, W. K., Yan, W. W., Cheung, M. T., Cheng, V. C., Chan, K. H., Tsang, D. N., Yung, R. W., Ng, T. K. and Yuen, K. Y. Coronavirus as a possible cause of severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Lancet*, 361, 9366 (Apr 19 2003), 1319-1325.

[301] Scheinberg, M., Blacklow, N. R., Goldstein, A. L., Parrino, T. A., Rose, F. B. and Cathcart, E. S. Influenza: response of T-cell lymphopenia to thymosin. *N Engl J Med*, 294, 22 (May 27 1976), 1208-1211.

[302] Kamphuis, E., Junt, T., Waibler, Z., Forster, R. and Kalinke, U. Type I interferons directly regulate lymphocyte recirculation and cause transient blood lymphopenia. *Blood*, 108, 10 (Nov 15 2006), 3253-3261.

[303] Holzinger, D., Jorns, C., Stertz, S., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Thimme, R., Weidmann, M., Casanova, J. L., Haller, O. and Kochs, G. Induction of MxA gene expression by influenza A virus requires type I or type III interferon signaling. *J Virol*, 81, 14 (Jul 2007), 7776-7785.

[304] Prescott, J. B., Hall, P. R., Bondu-Hawkins, V. S., Ye, C. and Hjelle, B. Early innate immune responses to Sin Nombre hantavirus occur independently of IFN regulatory factor 3, characterized pattern recognition receptors, and viral entry. *J Immunol*, 179, 3 (Aug 1 2007), 1796-1802.

[305] Jordan, W. J., Eskdale, J., Srinivas, S., Pekarek, V., Kelner, D., Rodia, M. and Gallagher, G. Human interferon lambda-1 (IFN-lambda1/IL-29) modulates the Th1/Th2 response. *Genes Immun*, 8, 3 (Apr 2007), 254-261.

[306] Morrow, M. P., Pankhong, P., Laddy, D. J., Schoenly, K. A., Yan, J., Cisper, N. and Weiner, D. B. Comparative ability of IL-12 and IL-28B to regulate Treg populations and enhance adaptive cellular immunity. *Blood*, 113, 23 (Jun 4 2009), 5868-5877.

[307] Ramsden, C., Melo, F. L., Figueiredo, L. M., Holmes, E. C. and Zanotto, P. M. High rates of molecular evolution in hantaviruses. *Mol Biol Evol*, 25, 7 (Jul 2008), 1488-1492.

[308] Lundkvist, A., Fatouros, A. and Niklasson, B. Antigenic variation of European haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome virus strains characterized using bank vole monoclonal antibodies. *J Gen Virol*, 72 (Pt 9)(Sep 1991), 2097-2103.

[309] Wang, Y., Boudreaux, D. M., Estrada, D. F., Egan, C. W., St Jeor, S. C. and De Guzman, R. N. NMR structure of the N-terminal coiled coil domain of the Andes hantavirus nucleocapsid protein. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 42 (Oct 17 2008), 28297-28304.
[310] Alminaite, A., Backstrom, V., Vaheri, A. and Plyusnin, A. Oligomerization of hantaviral nucleocapsid protein: charged residues in the N-terminal coiled-coil domain contribute to intermolecular interactions. *J Gen Virol*, 89, Pt 9 (Sep 2008), 2167-2174.
[311] Boudko, S. P., Kuhn, R. J. and Rossmann, M. G. The coiled-coil domain structure of the Sin Nombre virus nucleocapsid protein. *J Mol Biol*, 366, 5 (Mar 9 2007), 1538-1544.

[312] Essbauer, S., Pfeffer, M. and Meyer, H. Zoonotic poxviruses. *Vet Microbiol*, 140, 3-4 (Jan 27 2010), 229-236.

[313] Niklasson, B., Nyholm, E., Feinstein, R. E., Samsioe, A. and Hornfeldt, B. Diabetes and myocarditis in voles and lemmings at cyclic peak densities--induced by Ljungan virus? *Oecologia*, 150, 1 (Nov 2006), 1-7.

[314] Park, M. S., Shaw, M. L., Munoz-Jordan, J., Cros, J. F., Nakaya, T., Bouvier, N., Palese, P., Garcia-Sastre, A. and Basler, C. F. Newcastle disease virus (NDV)-based assay demonstrates interferon-antagonist activity for the NDV V protein and the Nipah virus V, W, and C proteins. *J Virol*, 77, 2 (Jan 2003), 1501-1511.

[315] Morrow, M. P., Yan, J., Pankhong, P., Shedlock, D. J., Lewis, M. G., Talbott, K., Toporovski, R., Khan, A. S., Sardesai, N. Y. and Weiner, D. B. IL-28B/IFN-lambda 3 drives granzyme B loading and significantly increases CTL killing activity in macaques. *Mol Ther*, 18, 9 (Sep 2010), 1714-1723.